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Thursday, September 15, 2016
--- On commencing at 9:37:11 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.  Thank you.

LDC CO - PANEL 2, resumed

Brenda Schacht, Previously Affirmed

Dan Pastoric, Previously Affirmed

Norman Wolff, Previously Affirmed

Colin Macdonald, Previously Affirmed

Cathy Lerette, Previously Affirmed


Welcome back, panel.  Mr. Cass, any preliminary matters this morning?

Preliminary Matters:


MR. CASS:  Just one, Mr. Chair, if I may, thank you.


This panel that is now on the witness stand, panel 2, is not able to answer questions about the strategic plan.  I understand that that's not a problem, because there are no questions about the strategic plan, but I just thought it important that that be out on the record so that there's no misunderstanding as we go ahead.


Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood, Mr. Cass.


Anyone have any comment on that?  Anyone?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I was the one who asked for it, I guess, in the first place, and having read it, I can't see anything I would ask any questions about.  I think it's --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- essentially content-free, so --


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- I think it looks like an early draft.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd, for that, and we can confirm that panel 1 won't be required to answer any questions on -- I'm sorry, I didn't see Ms. -- Ms. Girvan?


MS. GIRVAN:  I had one question on the strategic plan.


MR. QUESNELLE:  What's the scope of it?


MS. GIRVAN:  It is a simple question, and maybe this panel can answer it.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Why don't, with your indulgence, Mr. Cass, if we can do that, and then we can clear up whether or not we need to get panel 1, depending on the nature of it.


MS. GIRVAN:  And I haven't been able to pull it up, but it's just a quick question.  There is some reference in there to a strategy about mergers and acquisitions, and it was my understanding that panel 1 gave testimony that there really wasn't any strategy with respect to mergers and acquisitions, and I just wondered if they could maybe clarify that.


MR. CASS:  Yes, I don't think that panel 2 would be able to do that, Mr. Chair.  That's the problem.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Girvan, can we take that as an undertaking and get a written response to that?


MS. GIRVAN:  That would be --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Would that be fine, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MS. HELT:  So that will then be Undertaking J3.1.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Cass, I think we'll allow you to speak with...


MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Maybe if we...


MR. CASS:  Mr. Basilio is here.  He has been affirmed.  He can answer the question.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Why don't we do that.  We're just trying to get this done as efficiently as possible.  Yeah, that would be fine with us, Mr. Cass.


MR. BASILIO:  There are no current acquisition -- there aren't any acquisitions being contemplated by Mergeco at this time, but there is an ongoing strategy around consolidation.


I don't think I was on the record saying that there's no plan not to pursue further consolidations.  In fact, I thought it was quite the opposite under cross.


What we did talk about were the limitations on the financial capacity of Mergeco to pursue a meaningful acquisition without some sort of equity support, which is difficult to acquire in this -- in the current tax regime.


So I think those were largely the scope of my comments.  Mergeco is interested in further consolidation.  There are some limitations at this time that make that difficult.


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Ms. Girvan?


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  That's fine.  And my reference to that was on page 10 of the strategic plan.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Basilio.  Mr. Cass?


MS. HELT:  Just for the purpose of the record, I'll strike the undertaking then, obviously.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  Thank you.  There was a quick response to the undertaking.  Thank you.


With that, we have the panel affirmed, and Mr. Shepherd, I believe you're first up.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  So Mr. Chairman, I have a compendium, which -- copies of which have been provided.


MS. HELT:  Yes, and copies have been provided to the panel, and we will mark it as Exhibit K3.1, the compendium of the School Energy Coalition, panel 2.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  SEC COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 2.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. Chairman, I understand that AMPCO also has a compendium, and there are things in that that I will be referring to, so I wonder if we can mark that as an exhibit as well.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, we can do that.


MS. HELT:  Yes, wee will hand up copies to the Panel, and we will mark the AMPCO compendium, panel 2, as Exhibit K3.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  AMPCO COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 2.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, witnesses, I think I know all of you.  And my name is Jay Shepherd.  I'm the lawyer for the School Energy Coalition.  And I want to start with the last page of our compendium, K3.1.


Can you confirm that this is a document that was provided by the applicants at SEC's request to summarize the buildings that Mergeco will have that are to be used for administration or operations?


MR. PASTORIC:  I can, and it is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it a complete list?


MR. PASTORIC:  I think there might be one small building that is not on this list that wasn't in your --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And what building is that?


MR. PASTORIC:  I believe there is a building in Stoney Creek that will be continuing to be used as an operational centre, but it's insignificant in the scheme of this.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a -- it's basically just a garage and a workshop?


MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Yeah, I know the one you're talking about.  I didn't include it for that reason.  Doesn't Mississauga also have one of those in Erin Mills somewhere?


MR. PASTORIC:  We have a -- in Erin Mills we have a backup control centre.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Ahh, okay.


MR. PASTORIC:  If that's the one you're talking about, in --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. PASTORIC:  -- Glen Erin.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But that's not an operations centre; that is just a backup control centre.


MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


All right.  So I want to ask -- why don't we start with control rooms.  So you have currently four control rooms in the merging entities plus the -- how many backups do you have?  You have the one in Mississauga.  Do you have any others?


MR. PASTORIC:  I believe each utility through -- going through best practices on BCM or business continuity has a backup control centre.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Fully functional?


MR. PASTORIC:  Fully functional.  It is a cold centre.  In other words, you can go to it if there is a natural disaster at the main one.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  But what it means is that -- like, for example, you've described Glen Erin in previous evidence as the -- that's the municipal station; right?


MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The -- you've described it as fully functional.  You don't use it.  It is not operational, being used, but you could --


MR. PASTORIC:  It is not managed on a daily basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- walk through with people and control your system from there.


MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you are saying there's four of those?


MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you've told the Board that you are going from four control centres to two.  Those are the main ones, right?  And if I understand it, you have control centres at Cityview, John Street, Mavis, and Sandalwood; right?


MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're going to close the Mavis and Sandalwood ones?


MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And are you going to close also the backups?


MR. PASTORIC:  That's what our plan is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How many of them you going to close?


MR. PASTORIC:  All four.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All four.  Oh, because you have two already one can be the backup for the other.


MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are actually going to close six of your control rooms.


MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now -- so these are typically what, 4-, 5,000 square feet each?


MR. PASTORIC:  No, if you go to the Glen Erin, we're talking about a room about 20 by 20 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. PASTORIC:  -- so it is just a room.  If you look at the backup for Hydro One Brampton, I believe it is in your OTS, and it is essentially a small room where you can bring operators in.  It isn't something that I would stay in for days on days, but in the case of an emergency it is very functional.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The main control rooms are 4- or 5,000 square feet each; right?


MR. PASTORIC:  Subject to check.  Yeah.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because I saw -- like, the one at Cityview, I know PowerStream has said it is 4,000 square feet, right?  That's about the right --


MR. PASTORIC:  20 by 20.


MR. SHEPHERD:  20 by 20 is 400.


MR. PASTORIC:  Oh, sorry, 200, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, yeah.  And so -- so you're going to get rid of these small control rooms.  Are they leased space?  No, I guess --


MR. PASTORIC:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Glen Erin is --


MR. PASTORIC:  Glen Erin is in our own municipal substation, so it's a room within our substation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're not going to save any space.  You are just going to --


MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- you're going to use that for something else?


MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.  We'll repurpose.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you already have room for everything you need.  What are you going to repurpose it to?


MR. PASTORIC:  It would be difficult to lease a secured zone.  If you've got a TS you don't want to put a retail space within a box --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I do understand it is not going to be a Starbucks.  That wasn't my question, though.  My question is not can you do something with it; my question is how are you going to repurpose it.  You said you were going to repurpose it.


MR. PASTORIC:  Yes, but we don't have plans yet to what will go in there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's going to be empty.


MR. PASTORIC:  Eventually.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MS. LERETTE:  Can I just add that in -- oh, sorry.  Can I just add, in the backup in St. Catharines the backup room is actually a training room, so we would take over our training room, so once we get rid of the backup control room we'll just continue to use it as a training room so there's no --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is no waste there.


MS. LERETTE:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And PowerStream has a back-up at Addiscott, is that right?

MR. MacDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's quite a bigger room?

MR. MacDONALD:  No, it's not a big space.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not 400 feet square feet?  It is bigger than that?

MR. MacDONALD:  I don't know the exact dimensions, but it’s a -- if we had a disaster at Cityview, where the main control room is, or a large outage there, we could operate our control or SCADA system from that location. 

It is not a full control.  It allows you access the IT systems.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All of these control rooms have equipment in there them, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What's going to happen to this equipment?

MR. PASTORIC:  We'll try to use it is best, if there is a way to repurpose it.  When it talks about computer screens, we he can repurpose the computer screens.  If you are talking about a PC, we can repurpose that.  If it’s a desk, we can repurpose that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the valuable stuff is pretty specific to a control room, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  The valuable stuff is the software and hardware that we use to control the system.  And frankly, we are moving to one common platform.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are going to be junking some of that stuff anyway.

MR. PASTORIC:  Well, most of the stuff is quite old, except in the case of the brand new back-up centres, which are within the last five years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The brand new ones being?

MR. PASTORIC:  Glen Erin.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Glen Erin, right.  So you spent like $2.3 million or something on that.  Does that sound about right?

MR. PASTORIC:  I couldn't confirm or deny that at this point in time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was some millions of dollars, right, to set that up?

MR. PASTORIC:  But again, the building of the Glen Erin TS was most of the cost.  We added a room to it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking about the room.  I'm asking you about setting up the control room there.

MR. PASTORIC:  It is essentially PCs, computer PCs.  There is no large screen there.  There is no redundancy on that.  It is just PCs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  What I'm trying to get at is when you close all four back-ups and two of the main control rooms, you have a bunch of extra space, right? Maybe 10,000 square feet, total, between the six spaces?

MR. PASTORIC:  I'll go with your comment, but I'm not sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you also have a bunch of equipment, some of which you might be able to use and some of which you might not be able to use.  Are we going to see some derecognition losses from those items?

MR. WOLFF:  There is a probability that we would.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have a sense of how big that's going to be?

MR. WOLFF:  Not at this time, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are those included in the calculation of your synergies, or your transition costs for that matter?

MR. PASTORIC:  Currently the computer assets will be utilized until we cut over to our main control rooms.  Some of those back-up centres will be utilized for anywhere between two and five years, depending on when the final cut over is. 

In the case of PCs, I believe it will depreciate away.  If you are talking about the buildings, they do have longer life.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are saying there’s no assets in the back-ups at least that, in the ten years, will have to be written off?

MR. WOLFF:  Again, I don't want to say categorically there will be no disposals.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Nothing material is my point.

MR. WOLFF:  No, I don't believe there is anything material.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If it is $100,000, we are not talking in those changes ranges.  If it is $5 million, then it matters.  Nothing like that?

MR. WOLFF:  Probably no $5 million write-off.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have nothing in your forecast for write-offs of assets for the back-ups, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you have anything in your forecast for write-offs of assets in the two -- in the two fully functional control rooms that you going to close?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. PASTORIC:  Again, I don't believe so.  But we'll still be using them for between three and five years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then they will be depreciated, right?  And why would you be using them for three to five years.  You are going to close them tomorrow, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  No, we are not closing them tomorrow.  The control rooms will eventually start to move staff and processes within 18 to 24 months.  But the whole process at looking at policies and procedures and safe work practices will take several years.

We want to ensure that safety is paramount, and we don't want to cut over to other systems or other offices until we're firmly confident in the two control rooms.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your previous evidence, Mr. Pastoric, is that in year 2, you will have $4.3 million of savings from having closed two control centres, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  I believe the numbers we talked about when it comes to the control rooms, is immediately we'll have some vacancies that we'll be looking at to crystallize.  In year 2, we'll be looking at some management staff that will no longer be required as we start to consolidate the control rooms.  And there is one
-- when Mississauga occurs to Hamilton and when Brampton occurs to Vaughan, there will be additional reductions of staff, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'd refer you to page 3 of our compendium.  This is from the technical conference, page 62, and you are referring back to an interrogatory response to School Energy Coalition in which you say in year 2, we would have approximately $4.3 million.  Is that right?

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So it's not going to be sometime later, we're going to have savings from closing those control rooms.  You are going to have it in year 2, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  We will have 4.3 million by year 2, yes.  But we will have an additional savings as we move along.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not in your forecast, is it?  Your forecasts actually say 4.3, and that's it.

MR. PASTORIC:  I believe we've got -- in year 3, we've got some night shift operators that we are going to be looking to remove.  So, there are some savings, but minor.  We're talking minor dollars.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then when you said It’s going to be three to five years before you get to this, it's not.  It's year 1 you are going to close these two control centres, so that in year 2, you save $4.3 million, and that’s basically it.

Isn't that right?  What I said in the first place, isn't that right?

MR. PASTORIC:  The savings will occur as you've indicated, but it will take several years to ensure that all the procedures and policies are cut over.  So the saving -- the dollar savings, you're right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So, if we're going to have some derecognition losses, they’ll be right away quick, right, year 1 or 2.  Because you do have specialized equipment in those two control rooms that you are closing, right?

MR. WOLFF:  These costs or these write-offs may be experienced within the first 18 to 24 months.  Again it is subject to be being able to align the systems, being in a good spot with respect to ensuring the safety of our crews, safety of the public, all of that is maintained.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And all of those write-offs, those are all included in your transition costs, isn't that's right

MR. WOLFF:  So any material write-offs that we expect would have been included, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there are addition allegation ones that you haven't got to the level of granularity to identify them?

MR. WOLFF:  Likely immaterial ones, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, thanks.  Then those derecognition losses in years 1 and 2, those will be in Enersource territory and Brampton territory, right, because those are the ones you're closing?

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And Enersource is where you are expecting to start right away claiming ICM, right?

MR. WOLFF:  So the capital expenditures that support an ICM, yes, we would be submitting for.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So how does -- how did the derecognition loses factor in to how much ICM you expect to be claiming in the forecast?

MR. WOLFF:  So the write-offs of the derecognition loses would be separate and distinct from the ICM amounts.  So it is not a net capital that we're looking at.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So, the new stuff that you are putting in -- like, for example, if you are putting in a new SCADA system, right, that would qualify as an ICM? 

MR. PASTORIC:  We're converting to an existing SCADA system.  Most of our IT systems will be converting to or merging to an existing system, where we might have to upgrade the system slightly, but it is an existing system, so in the case of PowerStream and Horizon we'll look at one of their systems and ensure that we are migrating to one of those systems.  It is not a brand-new system.

So is there incremental?  There might be a small amount.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is just not a lot of money

because --

MR. PASTORIC:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- you don't have to buy the system.

MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. WOLFF:  I just want to be clear, just to add, that many of these transition costs -- and costs -- capital costs related only to the convergence of the utilities are generally excluded from any type of ICM request.  That's considered to be part of the investment that we make, similar to the premium that we pay in Hydro One Brampton.  I just want to be absolutely clear on that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's exactly what I was trying to get you to say.  Thank you very much.

Okay.  I want to turn to call centres now.  You have call centres currently at Vansickle in St. Catharines, at Cityview at Woodbridge, at Derry Road and at Sandalwood; is that right?

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct; we have four call centres.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are keeping Vansickle and Cityview?

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are closing Derry Road and Sandalwood.

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm interested in -- because these are -- the call centres are fairly substantial employers, right?  You have a bunch of people in those call centres, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  When you say "substantial", are you talking ten, 20?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well --

MR. PASTORIC:  We are talking about ten people in most of our call centres.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And --

MR. PASTORIC:  We're not talking about hundreds.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but you have, like, 50, 60 people across the whole enterprise in the call centres.

MR. PASTORIC:  Less than that, but about 40, about 40.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the ones in Mississauga and Brampton are closing.  Similarly the control rooms in Mississauga and Brampton are closing.  Is there a particular reason for that?

MR. PASTORIC:  Can you restate that again, sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, you're closing the control rooms in Mississauga and Brampton and you are closing the call centres in Mississauga and Brampton.  Is there any particular reason for that?

MR. PASTORIC:  When we were looking at where we should place it, we looked at constraints dealing with staffing.  We looked at the best place from a business continuity, and that was a business decision to go to both ends of the territory.  If we had a major storm in one area, and one building wasn't accessible, the other building would be accessible.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because they are far away from each other.

MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.  And you're -- the one thing I wondered about these is you are keeping the control room and the call centre at Cityview in Woodbridge.  That is the PowerStream head office.  But isn't that the building that is the most full of all of your buildings, the most --

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct, it is completely occupied at this point in time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are going to have to do a pretty substantial moving around of people as you grow, because you are not going to be able to keep all those people in Cityview; right?

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct; we will be doing a lot of moving around.  Each of the utilities currently is full-service when it comes to executives, legal, HR, and so forth.  And as we've provided in evidence, we will be specializing in each of the offices, so that will be the shared services office with our CDM and a bit of non-regs; in the case of Mississauga office will be our corporate office.  So each office will have, I'll call it a reconfiguration, but since they are generic offices and work stations, people can just move in and out, but, yes, you're correct, we will be moving staff from office to office.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have -- I wonder if we can just -- I could ask you briefly about these ten buildings.  I'll start with Cityview since we're talking about it.  That's in Woodbridge, right, it's the head office of PowerStream?

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And currently it has about 275 people in it?

MR. PASTORIC:  There are 56 offices and 276 work stations, correct, and approximately 99.4.  I believe there is only one work station and one office that is not occupied at this time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Because when you built it you said it was built for 270 people.  It was actually going to be 250 at the beginning, but it was built for 270.

MR. MacDONALD:  So just to confirm what Mr. Pastoric said, the Cityview offices is pretty much at capacity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I'm asking about numbers here.  I thought you had room for 270 people in it.  Do you have more than that in it?

MR. MacDONALD:  On the table we provided yesterday, the exhibit, is 56 staff in offices and 267 in work stations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, but that can't be people; right? That's just spaces for people to work.  The reason why I say that is because your total here is 333 offices and 1,592 work stations, which is 1,925 places to work.  You don't have that many people.  Even the outside people you don't have.

MR. MacDONALD:  We do -- actually, all the utilities have some contract and temporary staff as well that would account for some of the --

MR. SHEPHERD:  That are not in your FTE table?

MR. MacDONALD:  Well, we all report in accordance with the OEB standards in terms of staff categories.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So people who work for you are supposed to be in your FTE table; right?

MR. MacDONALD:  They would be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your FTE table says that all -- that your entire number of employees, including vacancies, is 1,633 people, so you can't have 1,925 places for them to work and say they're all full.  They can't be.  Some of those people don't have a work stations because they are out fixing lines; I hope you have some out there fixing lines.

(Panel confers)

MR. WOLFF:  Just to clarify, some of the consultants that do work for some of the organizations, they do come in and they don't stay full-time, and therefore would likely be excluded from the FTE calculations, so I think it may be an oversimplification just to say that the FTEs are -- those are the only number of people that are in the office working at any given point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I'll come back to this later, because it is a bigger discussion.  Let me move 
on --

MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd, can I just ask a --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MS. LONG:  -- clarification question here?

Mr. Shepherd asked you about the number of staff working in your call centres, and I believe your evidence was 40; is that correct?

MR. PASTORIC:  I think it's just about 40, I believe.

MS. LONG:  And that's for the four utilities currently.  You are closing two call centres.  How many employees are you going to have -- is Mergeco going to have once the two call centres are closed?

MR. PASTORIC:  We're maintaining our call centres similar to our outside individuals who deal with power outages and power quality.  We're maintaining all of our call-centre people -- or the resourcing levels, I should say.

MS. LONG:  So the resourcing levels will stay the same.

MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. MacDONALD:  And just, Ms. Long, maybe just to clarify as well, when we're talking about call centres in this context we are being very specific.  We are talking about people who are on the phone.  So customer service has other functions, billing, payments collections, so I didn't want to -- we're not trying to portray that customer service is that small.  Call centre is just to us people who are on the phone talking to customers minute by minute.

Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, Mr. Wolff, you said you are maintaining your tool-in-hand people and your call-centre people, right?

MR. WOLFF:  I believe it was --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Was that you?

MR. PASTORIC:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I'm not going to say that you all look the same to me.  You don't, actually.

MR. WOLFF:  We are wearing the same colour tie.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- and I'm looking at -- this is not in my compendium.  I am looking at AMPCO number 6, page 3, which is actually in the last page of K1.3, the AMPCO panel 1 compendium.

And it looks to me like you're actually reducing your union staff by 165 people.  And you are reducing your non-union, which is your inside staff, by 46 people; isn't that right?

MR. PASTORIC:  Sorry, I'm just looking for that document.

MS. LERETTE:  So AMPCO on page 6.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, the last page, page 45, actually. It is AMPCO interrogatory page 6, number 6.  The document at the top is the only one I've ever seen that says page 3 of 2.  Microsoft does that.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. SCHACHT:  Yes, you're correct that there are -- the union reductions that are indicated in the forecast of FTE reductions are union staff that are performing certain functions.  So there would be some -- some of the more administrative functions as indicated earlier in customer service, the consolidation of the control rooms, and there are some other unionized staff and some other -- more administrative areas that ultimately where we will see FTE reductions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are not reducing any of your electricians or linemen, or any of those people?


MS. SCHACHT:  No, we are not.  Zero.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So Cityview is going to be retained; it is going to be a shared services facility.  And so Mr. Gregg is going to be the person in charge of that, right?  He's going to be located there?


MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are have like HR, and health and safety, and environment, and all of those.  Regulatory is not going to be there.  Regulatory is going to be in the corporate office, right?


MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And things like legal and audit, they will be in the corporate office, too, even though they are shared services, but they are a different kind of shared services.


MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And those shared services and the non-regulated business, the shared services are provided to regulated and non-regulated activities, right?


MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the point of them being shared. But the whole of Cityview is going to be in rate base from day one, right?


MR. MacDONALD:  Just to clarify, Mr. Shepherd, as discussed by panel 1, we will charge out services to the unregulated business that exists at Cityview, or will exist there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  That wasn't my question.


MR. MacDONALD:  I just want to clarify that will include space.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  But my question was, the whole of Cityview will be in rate base; it is in rate base right now, right?


MR. MacDONALD:  Right, you’re correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it cost what?  About 25 million, give or take?


MR. MacDONALD:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is costing the ratepayers somewhere a little over $2 million a year in rates right now.


MR. MacDONALD:  Would you assume a 25 year --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I actually assume longer than that, But -- I'm saying in that ballpark, a little over 2 million, is that --


MR. MacDONALD:  What was your math to get --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I used 8 percent, because it is a long depreciation.  Maybe it's higher; maybe it's two and a half.


MR. MacDONALD:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm in the right ballpark, right?


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, Addiscott; you don't own Addiscott.  That is owned by the City of Markham.


MR. MacDONALD:  No, Addiscott is leased.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't it owned by the City of Markham?


MR. MacDONALD: No, that's not correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, no?  Okay, I thought it was.


MR. MacDONALD:  We moved out of a Markham building when we had Addiscott built, and we lease Addiscott from a private company.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have a 25-year lease on that, that expires in about 17 years; is that right?


MR. MacDONALD:  It would have been 25 years from 2010.


MR. SHEPHERD:  2010, okay.  I thought it was 2008.


MR. MacDONALD:  No, 2008 is Cityview.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you can't exit that lease, is that right? 


MR. MacDONALD:  I can't say definitively that we can't.  I don't know all the language in the lease.


I suppose there be could a scenario that we could sublet the space.  I don't know the details of the lease.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's costing you -- I'm just estimating here -- a million and a half dollars a year in lease payments.  Am I in the ballpark?


MR. MacDONALD:  That's correct.  It's in ten-year tranches, but that's approximately correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if you didn't need it, you could try to sublet it.  But really the ratepayers are paying for it anyway, a million and a half dollars a year, right?


MR. MacDONALD:  But if we did sub lease it -- sublet it, that money would go back.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It wouldn't actually.  For the first ten years, you'd get to keep it, right?  The shareholders would get it.


MR. MacDONALD:  Oh, I see.  That's correct.


MR. WOLFF:  Can I just add a clarification?  I mean, we would still have approximately twenty years on that lease, so there would be a savings back to the customers post-rebasing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Assuming you could get the whole million and a half dollars for it’s sublease.


MR. WOLFF:  Correct.  The cost would still go down, because we wouldn’t be spending the million and a half in totality.


MR. PASTORIC:  Mr. Shepherd, if I may jump in? There was a -- when we were talking about Cityview, you were talking about staff numbers at Cityview regarding what would be there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. PASTORIC:  And BOMA 8, when we filed in confidence, there were numbers and we talked about the functions -- and I’ll just talk about functions.


We have CDM in that building, IT for all services.  We have the call centre as well as the control room.  We have HR and health and safety.  We will also have supply chain work there also, and also our transformation group, which is a new group looking at process performance.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. MacDONALD:  Just if I can add, Mr. Shepherd, I believe that those -- the number of staff was actually --the Board did put that on the public record, so the -- it is public information, just to clarify.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if it wasn't, it is now.  Let me ask about Patterson.  Patterson is in Barrie, right?  And you just renovated that last year or this year.


MR. MacDONALD:  Last year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How much did you spend on that?


MR. MacDONALD:  It was about -- just over $3 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And at the time you renovated it, you didn't know you were going to merge, right?


MR. MacDONALD:  I think when the plans were set, we wouldn't have known that we were merging, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason I ask is because it says -- oh, maybe I'm -- maybe this belongs to Jane.


Where it says release and reintegrate, is that for Patterson or Jane?


MR. PASTORIC:  That's for Jane Street.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I'll come to that in a second.  So you’re planning to keep Patterson, right?


MR. MacDONALD:  That's correct.  It will be a service centre that supplies Barrie and areas north, or provides service to Barrie and areas north.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's 82,000 square feet.  That is a lot of scare feet for a local service centre.


MR. MacDONALD:  Well, it's where all the warehousing and material for the area to the north, and that's where the crews report.  And there's a number of office staff there, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would there be office staff there?


MR. MacDONALD:  We deal with developers and customers in the north service territory, so we have engineering staff, technicians, that sort of -- we have locaters, a whole range of staff there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you actually have 7,000 square feet of that -- of the office component that's rented out, right?


MR. MacDONALD:  No, it is not rented out, Mr. Shepherd.  When we had done the renovation, we had tried to do it in a way that would put our staff in one area of the building and allow the potential to rent out 7,000 square feet.  But we have not done so.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I'm looking at page 6 of the VECC compendium, K3.2.


MR. QUESNELLE:  AMPCO compendium, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is the AMPCO compendium, and this is from your evidence in the 0003 case where you say you are going to have 7,000 square feet that you are able to rent.  Is that not true anymore?


MR. MacDONALD:  Everything you've said is true.  I'm just adding that we have not rented that space out.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have extra space, but you haven't rented it.


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes.  We did the renovation and tried to be efficient, so to provide the opportunity of rent space.  But we have not done so.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And then the last one in the PowerStream -- and you are planning to keep this building into the foreseeable future?


MR. MacDONALD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Then the last one is the Jane Street leased premises; that's in the city of Vaughan building, right?


MR. MacDONALD:  No, it is a separate building on Jane Street, near Rutherford Road in Vaughan.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I haven't actually gone by it, but if you look at Google you see City of Vaughan, PowerStream.  It's on the same block of land; right?


MR. MacDONALD:  That's not correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do they own it?


MR. MacDONALD:  PowerStream leases that space.


MR. SHEPHERD:  From City of Vaughan?


MR. MacDONALD:  No, from a private company.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you are planning to keep that too?


MR. PASTORIC:  No, we are planning to reintegrate the individuals in that building back to mostly Cityview and other locations, so we see a releasing of that and reintegrating our staff.  Currently we have CDM staff, office staff, and we have temporary work stations for IT projects.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are going to get rid of that 22,000 square feet.  It's going to save you what, 4- or $500,000 a year?


MR. PASTORIC:  I believe it is just over $400,000, which has been already incorporated in our synergies.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That was my next question.  Okay.


Then let's go to Enersource.  Now, Enersource of course is of particular interest because there was a whole discussion about the Enersource new head office in 2012; right?  And Derry is the new head office; right?


MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That you bought from Siemens or somebody.  Siemens?


MR. PASTORIC:  Siemens used to be the owner, but it went through a number of hands before it came to us.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that corporate office currently has about 190 people in it; is that right?


MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you also have Mavis, and in that -- and Mavis has 125,000 square feet; right?


MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mavis has -- Mavis is an old building?


MR. PASTORIC:  Very old.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I remember the evidence about it, where there were so many renovations -- tell me whether this is correct -- there were so many renovations that sometimes you couldn't find from one place to another place?


MR. PASTORIC:  No, not correct.  We had -- the building was built in three stages --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. PASTORIC:  -- the newest being in the '80s, the oldest being in the early '50s.  Essentially it was not what I would classify as a classic design, and we had about 33 percent of our staff in the basement, including four contract staff in the old vault, which was a space between four and six feet, and I remember our discussion indicating that it wasn't fit for individuals, and that's why we don't have individuals working in the basement any more.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, so -- but it's a big building, and it is really prime real estate; right?


MR. PASTORIC:  Prime?  Not really.  When we evaluated -- the original plan to look at, could we build on top of that facility.  We had evaluations by a number of architects and individuals to give us a value for money, sort of estimate.  And unfortunately because of its being old, being an industrial area, they say the administration office is based on the, I'll call it the warehouse costs.  The warehouse is so old it doesn't meet standards, so it's below standard, so it was discounted three ways, to a point where it's not what I would classify as a lucrative property.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I wasn't actually thinking about the building; I was thinking about ten acres, three kilometres from city hall.


MR. PASTORIC:  And currently zoned for outdoor storage, and most of the places around us are wrecked cars and metal scrapping --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, again, it's interesting you say that, because in fact you are entirely surrounded by residential except for a small area of industrial immediately contiguous, right, but the rest of that whole area of Mississauga is entirely residential, except for that one part of -- portion of industrial in which you are in the middle; isn't that right?


MR. PASTORIC:  I would say for the 12 businesses north of the facility they are all industrial.  To the south of us is all industrial.  There is a chemical plant behind us, and across the street is a municipal yard.  So I wouldn't classify it is residential.


If you go two miles in either direction, yes, but that's two miles away.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, is it correct that the land itself is worth 4- to $6 million an acre?  Am I in the ballpark?


MR. PASTORIC:  No, at all.  When we were looking at facility properties downtown Mississauga that was on the high range, and that was just under 2 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. PASTORIC:  So I would say industrial land is not as lucrative as you may think.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, you haven't looked at selling it; right?


MR. PASTORIC:  Not at this time.


MR. WOLFF:  We did actually consider it -- at the time that we were considering the building on top of the existing infrastructure, the existing building, we looked at a market value of that building, and we were very disappointed at what the number came out to be, so other than that, I don't think that we've considered selling it, specifically because of that disappointment a number of years ago.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you're not actually using all that space right now, right?  Because it is way more space than you need.  That was your evidence in the 033 case.


MR. PASTORIC:  We indicated by moving out employees out of the basement it was reasonably utilized.  It is not well-utilized.  I believe we've used 86 percent is currently utilized when you don't factor in the, I'll call it sub -- the basement facilities; that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you actually say you are using 86 percent of Derry and 91 percent of Mavis.


MR. PASTORIC:  Sorry, 91 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But of course, when you say you are using 86 percent of Derry, that's including the CEO having a 1,000 square foot office, so that's considered fully utilized, right?


MR. WOLFF:  Sorry, I haven't seen that office, the 1,000 square feet, but I don't think it's quite that big, but there might be an office there for the CEO, just to clarify.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That was the evidence in your proceeding.


MR. WOLFF:  At Mavis there was 1,000 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, at Derry.


MR. WOLFF:  Oh, I'm sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I'll leave that aside.  I'll come back to that.


You are planning to keep both of these facilities, Derry and Mavis; right?


MR. PASTORIC:  Yes, in the case of Derry it is our new corporate offices.  We've indicated it will have the executive, finance, regulatory, corporate relations, internal audit, and legal.


The Derry Road -- or, sorry, the Mavis Road will be used for the foreseeable future, but after three to five years we'll look at a property rationalization study, because we would have had moved out the control room and other functions, so we'll have to take a look at that, at that time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I  mean -- hmm.  All right.  Then I want to turn to the Horizon facilities, and you have -- John Street is a very old building in downtown --


MR. PASTORIC:  It is vintage.  I believe it was built in 1951.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not that vintage.  I was born in 1951, so...


MR. PASTORIC:  Never mind.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But it is just an office building, right?  It has its own problems.  It doesn't have parking. It is an old building, right?


MR. PASTORIC:  It is a classic building in an old part of town, yes.  It is a footprint where I believe there are six-plus storeys, and essentially it is fully utilized, or close to fully utilized.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you have a control room there, but that's the only operating part of the building, right?


MS. LERETTE:  That's correct, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The rest of it is all office.


MS. LERETTE:  We have a few outside metering staff that report to John Street, but primarily it is all inside workers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, your real operating centre is up on Nebo Road, right?


MS. LERETTE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's much newer?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes, that's, well, newer than John Street, but not brand-new.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it has a lot more room.  It has outside storage, and it has better access, all sorts of stuff like that.


MS. LERETTE:  Yes.  And it is also fully utilized.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Well, actually, you say it's 72 percent utilized.


MS. LERETTE:  Well, we have some inside office space upstairs where we did some recent renovations where we have some empty cubicles, but the garage and the warehousing and the outside storage is fully utilized.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you did recent renovations there?


MS. LERETTE:  Just on the second floor of the office, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, when?


MS. LERETTE:  I'd have to look back.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it this year or was it five --


MS. LERETTE:  Three years ago, maybe.  No, three years ago, maybe.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thanks.


And then you have St. Catharines, which is the old head office of St. Catharines Hydro; is that right?


MS. LERETTE:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's another operations centre for that -- the geographical area; right?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes, it is an operations centre and the call centre in the same building.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you actually have a bunch of it that is leased out to others, right?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes, half of the building is leased out and the other half houses the call centre and the ops centre.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yeah, I -- what this says is that there's 50,000 square feet and 8,000 that is leased out.  So that doesn't sound like half.  Maybe I'm misunderstanding.


[Witness panel confers]


MS. LERETTE:  Admin and ops?  Yeah, most of the building is taken up by the call centre and the operations centre.  The building is kind of split in two, or the hallway in between.  We've leased out the one side of the building, which is the 8,000 square feet, but the other half of the building is utilized for the ops centre and the call centre.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MR. PASTORIC:  If I could just provide a little bit of a context.  Between most of these buildings there's about 30- to 40-minute travel time --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. PASTORIC:  -- so when you look on Google maps and you do the ideal sort of travel time, between Barrie and the Markham office, or the Vaughan office to Brampton, or Brampton to Mississauga, they are all about 30 to 40 minutes.

You can't really have an op centre that you have to travel on the highway for about an hour with a truck each way.  So when we're looking at the six operating centres, it's reasonable to have six operating centres because of the geographic territory.

Having people in trucks won't serve the public or the employee for an hour or two hours a day.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll come back to that.  I agree with you, but I'll come back to that.

So the last one is Sandalwood.  Hydro One Brampton only has one facility, but it's quite a nice one on Sandalwood, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  It is on Sandalwood, and it is a joint admin and operations, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It has 14 acres, it’s got good access, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're going to close that, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  We're looking at what we should do in three to five years.  Right now, we must keep the operational centre open.  We believe it's ongoing, but we have to rationalize it is a time goes on.

Dealing with the administration centre, we will be using it for all of our IT projects.  So when we go for CIS or ERP, you will have to bring anywhere between 50 and 75 people together in one concentrated area and we will be using that as the area for those IT projects for the, you know, about three years.

We do still have --


MR. SHEPHERD:  During the transition.

MR. PASTORIC:  Correct, and that's why we said between three and five years, we have to start looking at a rationalization.  Both Mavis and Sandalwood would go down in occupancy, so we have to look at is there a possibility of doing something with that in five years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And closing or selling neither of those is not in your current forecast of synergies, is it?

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.  When we looked at if we went down that road, would a new op centre be more expensive than the two existing ones, just on the back of an envelope, anything between the two that would be sort of between the border of Brampton and Mississauga would not allowable for outdoor storage.  As soon as you go indoor storage for warehousing, the costs go through the roof.  And that's why we have to take a look at what is reasonable when we get to that point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I took it from reading this, that your plan is to -- you're more likely to close Sandalwood than Mavis, is that right?

MR. PASTORIC:  No, right at this time, we're not sure which direction to go in.  We’d have to look at what the best thing is from a cost point of view in servicing the customers in 3 and 5 years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Would you accept, subject to check, that in total you are going to have 82 acres of land just in these buildings, not including the other land you have.  You have lots of other lands and buildings of various types, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  We have municipal substations that are scattered all over the place.  So yes, we do have other properties.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Not counting those, but just in these, you have 82 acres.  I’m just adding them up.  Will you accept that, subject to check?

MR. PASTORIC:  My rough count doesn't add to up 82.  But subject to check, sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And will you accept that your admin space is 558,000, almost 559,000 square feet, just adding them up again?

MR. PASTORIC:  Subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And will you accept that your op space is 316,000 square feet?

MR. PASTORIC:  Similar.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have a total of inside space of 875,000 square feet that you will have available to you, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You currently doesn't have the enclosure or sale of any of that in your synergies, do you?

MR. PASTORIC:  I believe we indicated that Jane Street was --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, sorry, Jane Street.  That's right.

MR. PASTORIC:  That’s correct.  And we also indicated that within three to five years, we’ll be looking at Sandalwood and Mavis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's not in your synergies.

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct, because it could be a wash, depending an how it turns out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you’ll agree with me that in these buildings, you have 333 offices and you have 1,592 work stations; 1,925 dedicated places to work.

MR. PASTORIC:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then let's go back to the AMPCO compendium from panel number 1, the last page.

I just use as a rule of thumb that normally a utility needs about half -- if they have a certain number of FTEs, they need about half as many offices and workstations because many of those people don't need an office or a work station, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  Potentially.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that reasonable ratio, about half?

MR. PASTORIC:  Going down a -- I'll call it a simple ratio -- is difficult.  If I looked at this chamber here, currently one-third of it is not occupied, but it’s all utilized and is very functional.

By grouping all of the space together, it is very easy to draw upon large percentages or even moderate percentages that it would be open space that should be utilised differently.  However, if you have desks that are ten desks in one office and ten desks in another, it is very difficult to place that together.  I can't change walls, so --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you can change walls.  That's why you have the --


MR. PASTORIC:  But it gets into other costs.  Existing buildings, you buy existing buildings and you don't want to have a lot of additional costs where it's not necessary.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm trying to figure out how many offices and work spaces you need.  I'm guessing that today, when you have FTEs of 1,633 and you actually only have 1,599 people -- that’s right?

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- that you would need about 800 spaces. You'd need about 800 places for people to work indoors; right?

MR. PASTORIC:  We have about 600 outside workers and a lot of them -- if you’re looking at metering people, if you are looking at rooms that they use as workstations, if you look at supervisors that work with them who are on the outside, they do will have offices, and lead hands.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so you tell me.  How many of your 1,599 employees need offices or workstations?  It's not 1,599, right?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. PASTORIC:  Just doing a very rough calculation back and forth between the panel here.  We’re looking at 1,200, plus some hotelling stations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have 1925.  So you have 700 or so too many, more than you need.

MR. PASTORIC:  We have additional stations, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's talk about the space.  You have office space of 558 -- 559,000 square feet.  And so when PowerStream opened Cityview, it's evidence in 2008-0033 -- 00 -- whatever, I can't remember -- was that they thought it was appropriate to have 341 gross square feet per employee, indoor employee.

So, that means that you have room in this 558,000 square feet for about 1,700 or so -- sorry, 1,640 people at that rate?

MR. PASTORIC:  You’re including meeting rooms?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, that's gross.

MR. PASTORIC:  Sounds about right on the numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have a bunch of excess space?

MR. PASTORIC:  We have disbursed space that is in six operating centres in three meter offices, and we said we are going to look at two offices in the future to rationalize the properties.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what I'm driving at with all of this is -- as I'm sure you are aware, is that you have a lot more space than you need and your synergies do not include the sale of any of that.

You own most of it, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I'm guessing that you probably have, give or take, 50 million of excess real estate -- you have $250 million of real estate, is that fair, give or take?  280?

MR. PASTORIC:  I cannot comment on fair market value currently with all of these buildings, so ...

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't have any idea how much your real estate is worth?

MR. PASTORIC:  Not at this time, for me, personally, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are doing a billion-dollar merger and you don't know that you have 200 or $300 million of real estate?  Really?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. WOLFF:  As part of our due diligence, we did not do a fair market value assessment of each and every building for the purposes of understanding what the market value is, based on the fact that we haven't decided to sell at this point, to sell any one of those buildings because each building plays a part in our space requirements.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to put it to you, Mr. Wolff, that the actual reason why you have no answers to these questions is because you took the approach in this application that as long as you save something it didn't matter whether you saved as much as you could, because later you can save more and you get to keep it.


MR. WOLFF:  I don't -- that's -- in my opinion, is a completely false accusation.  Each of these buildings forms part of --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Excuse me.  Can we keep this to cross-examination on the facts?  We're getting into quite a bit of argument here.  I think the -- before you move forward, I recognize that the context matters, Mr. Shepherd, but the last statement was a suggestion that -- well, one that could be better framed in argument, I would think.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chairman, I don't -- I object to the intervention. The -- it is an appropriate part of cross-examination to put an allegation to a witness and say, "This is true, isn't it?"


MR. QUESNELLE:  I heard your statement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's what I'm doing.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to take him to evidence to show that it is true.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But first I want to get him to admit it; that's the easy way.


MR. WOLFF:  So back to that comment of us purposefully not including or not understanding what fair market value of the properties are, as Mr. Pastoric has already said, that each building plays a part in our operational plan at this point.


Yes, we may have a little bit of space.  Once we've completed all of the integration activities, most notably the IT projects, and at that time we will undertake a review of each of those buildings, how they play into our operational strategy with respect to serving our customers and ensuring that we have the right people at the right place at the right time in order to maintain or potentially improve reliability, so saying that we've done it intentionally so that we can get additional funds is just not correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I didn't say to get additional funds, I just said you did it intentionally, and in fact, I'll turn you to page 4 of our materials.  This is from the technical conference, and I believe this is Mr. Basilio, starting at line 7, would be -- he was being asked:

"You didn't analyze savings in excess of 100 percent of your forecast?"


And he said:

"Are there elements of conservatism in the forecast?  You know, perhaps.  I think really what we were trying to do here is comfortably come up with a number that was achievable.  The last thing we want to do from a shareholder or a customer point of view is to over-promise and under-deliver."


So in fact, isn't it true that what you were doing in your forecast was making sure that the number you forecast gave you lots of room to succeed?


MR. WOLFF:  So again, in our operational plan we made the decision to utilize our existing assets to say we are going to use three of the buildings to house our employees for the administration operations and maintain our six operational centres for the purposes of facilitating and maintaining our existing reliability metrics.


Okay, with respect to the 100 percent, yes, we had our teams go through and identify what the level of synergies available to us are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you didn't, did you?  Because you already know that either Mavis or Sandalwood is going to be excess in the ten years, and you didn't include anything for those, zero, and you know that's the wrong answer; right?


MR. CASS:  But Mr. Chair, that's been answered at least once already, that that was looked at, and Mr. Pastoric indicated that at this point in time they see it to be nothing more than a washout.  He said that.  That's been answered already.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Turning to page 8 of our materials.  This is Mr. Glicksman talking.  He was asked:

"Why are you are you keeping the three offices, the three head offices?"


And his answer is, starting at page -- at line 5:

"There are a number of assumptions in the business case.  The subject of this proceeding is that there is a no-harm test and there is a financial viability test.  Even with these assumptions, the shareholders -- one assumes that there is a business case -- even with maintaining the three offices to support the merger and purchase of Hydro One Brampton."


So what he's clearly saying is once we got to a point where we were saving lots of money we didn't need to look for more; isn't that right?


MR. WOLFF:  So with respect to the synergies, again, we developed our plan with an operational focus to say that we require the three admin centres, we require the six operational centres, in order to fully satisfy, maintain, potentially exceed our customer-service levels.


This is not about what the dollars are for the shareholders; this is about maintaining our service to customers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you need 559,000 square feet of office space to maintain the service to your customers?


MR. WOLFF:  At this time we would, initially.  We heard Mr. Pastoric talk about the additional requirement for projects, and that sort.  The --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, isn't your evidence that you have not yet done a space plan?  Isn't that your evidence?  So you don't actually know.


MR. PASTORIC:  Going back to the -- sorry, going back to how we did this, we went back to our subject-matter experts, we built it up from the ground up, and each of the buildings were seen as well-utilized, so to indicate that Cityview, if it's at 99 percent capacity or other buildings that are at 90-plus capacity, aren't required, why spend the effort to rationalize that?


If we are saying that there is an office in this building and an office in another building, and when you join them together over the nine buildings, or ten buildings if we include Jane Street, that's a different story.


We've indicated that we are going to reintegrate Jane Street.  That brings out 100-plus positions.  We are going to rationalize year five, potentially Sandalwood and Mavis Road, and I believe in our petition -- in our evidence we've said that there is an ESM, and that will benefit the customer after year -- after five, six.


So from that point of view, if there are additional synergies when we do the rationalization, it will be felt by all parties.


Now, we believe it's a wash.  Just from where real estate is going right now, looking at internal storage requirements in between the two locations, there was no need to go through that analysis at this time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's true, isn't it, that if you sold $50 million of real estate in 2018, let's say, because it wasn't necessary, the ratepayers wouldn't get any of that, the shareholders would get all of that, number one?  And number two, there would be approximately three-and-a-half million dollars in rates per year that the ratepayers would continue to pay, even though you didn't own the building any more; isn't that right?


MR. WOLFF:  There would be a benefit to customers upon rebasing, so if, in fact, we had sold $50 million, as you alluded to, of assets, and it wasn't required and there wasn't a wash, as Mr. Pastoric has indicated, what would happen upon rebasing is that $50 million or so would have come in some way, shape, or form out of rate base.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, actually -- tell me whether this is correct:  What would happen is the shareholders would get 50 million, ratepayers would pay $35 million over ten years for a building that wasn't even being -- wasn't even owned by you any more, and on rebasing they would save $3.5 million a year; isn't that what would actually happen?  That's just the math.


MR. WOLFF:  I -- honestly, I can't check your math in the middle of a conversation.  At the end of the day, if we can, in fact, serve our customers and maintain the service level that these -- our customers have become accustomed to, then there is a possibility.  However, I don't think it's a $50 million liquidation of real estate in your example.


MR. PASTORIC:  May I?  Just to clarify, when you talk about $50 million, I'm not sure -- that sounds like the whole portfolio.  The Mavis Road facility in 2012 was worth $6.4 million.  So if we are looking at getting rid of one building, $6.4 million, but we're already saying that we are looking to combine the two buildings and it may be a wash, so if you are talking about a million dollars in five years, that's different than $50 million liquidating the whole portfolio of buildings that we own.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have 875,000 square feet of inside space, some of which you don't need.  Are you telling me that 200,000 of it, let's say, even if it's only 200,000 that you need to get rid of, that it's only worth a million dollars?


MR. PASTORIC:  Well, if we are looking at -- let's look at Mavis Road.  It is 125,000 square feet right now.  You've indicated the ten acres.  That property itself is about $6.4 million a few years ago, and we're not planning to remove a whole operations centre out of this portfolio.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Mr. Chairman, I'm finished with the buildings.  I know you'll be disappointed.  But I have a couple of other areas that I want to ask some questions about.  Is this a good time for a break?


MR. QUESNELLE:  It is.  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


Let's break until ten after 11:00.

--- Recess taken at 10:48 a.m.
--- On resuming at 10:48 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  My apologies in the delay.  I got caught up in something at the break.  Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Just as a time check, I do expect to be done by around 12:00, 12:05.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  We do have something -- we'll have a hard stop at 12:20.  That sounds like it is going to be beyond you, but we'll talk with Mr. Janigan and see what he would like to do next.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I do have one more question about the building, because I forgot.


Mr. Pastoric, in EB-2012-0033, the Board determined that your excess space in Enersource was between 15 and 23 percent, is that right?


MR. PASTORIC:  I recall the Board denied ten percent of the building.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm reading from the decision:

“Based on the PowerStream comparison, the Board finds that the excess space is between 15 percent and 23 percent.”

[Witness panel confers]

 
MR. PASTORIC:  One second.  We’re just going to --


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I don't think the witnesses have that with them.


MR. PASTORIC:  We are just going to look for that data.  And if you are looking at that table -- I just want to make sure I understand the information, because you are comparing it to another utility and I just want to make sure I’ve got the data in front of me.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not comparing it to another utility.  The Board found that Enersource has excess space of between 15 and 23 percent.  It is right in the findings.  You don’t remember that?


MR. PASTORIC:  I recall the 10 percent denial.  I don't recall the exact percentages, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is in the decision; I'll defer to the document.


I did make a comment, Mr. Wolff, about Mr. Benson's new office being 1,000 square feet.  It's not; it’s the executive boardroom that is 1,000 square feet, right, at Derry?


MR. CASS:  Does this really matter, Mr. Chair, the size of the current executive boardroom at Derry Road in the context of the consolidation that the Board is being asked to approve?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is actually a set-up question for the real question to come, which will only take a second.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Can we have clarification what the 1,000 square feet is referring to?  Or what it pertains to, rather?


MR. WOLFF:  To be frank, I don't have a specific idea of how big that boardroom is.  1,000 square feet seems reasonable.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I'm asking this is: When you are doing your moving people around and restructuring how this is going to be, you know, what's going to be managed where, et cetera, there is going to be quite a bit of reconfiguration of your space planning, right?


MR. PASTORIC:  We're hoping to keep it to a minimum.  There are a number of offices.  We'll look at what's available and if there’s minor changes to office space, we'll create office space.  Workstations are workstations; people can move from one workstation to another.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't currently have any plans to renovate the space?


MR. PASTORIC:  Not at this point.  There may be minor changes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I want to turn to the next subject area.  I have three subject areas left, but they are both smaller than the space.


That is the capital plans in your models.  We were trying to figure out where the numbers came from.


So I want to start with pages 22 and 23 of our compendium.  These are your current forecasts of incremental capital for the four utilities, is that right?  These were attached to SEC 18, if you want the reference.


MR. WOLFF:  I believe these were consistent with that response.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And these actually came direct from your model, right?


MR. WOLFF:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So we were trying to figure out, when we were talking to panel 1, where you got the numbers for capital spending in the model because they didn't appear to be the same as in your DSP or in your approved numbers.  And they said talk to panel 2, so here you are.


Can you tell us where the numbers came from in the capital forecasts for the model?


(Witness panel confers).


MS. LERETTE:  So the model reflects the capital from the DSPs, minus the synergy savings – or, I guess, plus the transition cost minus the synergy savings, right, the Deloitte model.  The DSPs we have provided in Appendix 2AB.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, let's me just stop you.  Did you say plus the transition costs?  I thought Mr. Wolff said no transitions costs aren't included in those calculations.


MR. WOLFF:  I'm sorry, to clarify what I did say, we were talking about the ICM revenues --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is what I asked about.


MR. WOLFF:  -- and whether the transition costs were included in the amounts that underpin the ICM assumptions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so the transition costs are included in the capital forecast.  But then, when calculating the ICM qualified amounts, you removed them.


MR. WOLFF:  They are not included in the ICM assumptions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because when we asked about the ICM forecasts, they said no, it was just math, we didn't make any adjustments.  So did you make an adjustment for transition cost.


MR. WOLFF:  I wouldn't call it necessarily an adjustment.  It is using one set of data to do the mathematical calculations for the ICMs.  So if you want to call that specific one an adjustment, that, I guess, is open to interpretation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your model has a set of capital forecasts, how much capital can be spent in each rate zone for ten years, right?


MR. WOLFF:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that number for each year includes transition costs, right?


MR. WOLFF:  For the purposes of the capital spend, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then the ICM calculation takes that number and then calculates -- compares it to the ICM formula to see how much qualifies, and it's a mathematical calculation.  We asked about this the other day.


MR. WOLFF:  It is a mathematical calculation, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm asking:  On the way through, were those transition costs backed out?


MR. WOLFF:  Yes, they are backed out of the ICM assumption.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now back to my original question.  So for ICM purposes, Ms. Lerette, if I understand correctly, you started with the DSP and then you reduced it by the synergies, right?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because many of these don't look similar to the DSP.  There were some examples given the other day where -- which is the reason why this was punted to you, where the numbers were different.  And my understanding, and maybe I misinterpreted this so that's why I'm asking, is that you have updated capital forecasts more recent than your DSPs.  Is that fair?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes, I think the -- in some cases.  So in the PowerStream case, there are some variances between the Deloitte model and the DSPs, the form 2AB from the DSPs, and that's as a reflection of the -- that the impact would -- of their cost of service, they would in the get everything they asked. 


And there's also $3 million allocated for monthly billing that was not in the DSP 2AB form.  So there are some variances.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The examples that were given were Brampton, where there was a 45 million assumed in your model and the DSP said 40.8, or something like that.  I'm just remembering that off the top of my head. 


I'm trying to get a sense of -- did you go through and look at the capital forecast and say, well, we have to make a bunch of changes to these?


MS. LERETTE:  Well, in the Hydro One Brampton case, in 2016 -- and I don't know what year you're referring to, the variance -- but there is a variance of $5 million that is due to the computer systems.  So they had allocated $10 million for ERP over two years, and 2016 shows a 5 million variance and 2017 a 5 million variance.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I don't want to go into the weeds on this.  I am trying to stay as high-level as possible.  If we go through these, each case where there's a difference between the capital forecast and the DSP --


MS. LERETTE:  Uh-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- we will find that that's a synergy, that it's in your synergy numbers; is that fair?


MS. LERETTE:  So some of the variances in the chart, some are going to be due to identified synergy savings, but there's also other variances that have not been reflected in the synergy savings.  For example, in Enersource there are some variances around costs for LRT.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you just updated because you had better information.  The DSP was done in, let's say -- or the draft DSP in that case was done in 2015 and since then you have more information.


MS. LERETTE:  Yes, the DSPs were done over 2014, 2015, and PowerStream has some updated costs.  The Horizon ones have no variance at all.  It is as per the filing.  It matches the Deloitte model.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So do we have anywhere in the evidence a comprehensive summary of where the capital forecast came from?


(Witness panel confers]

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not going to ask for it.  It might take a minute.  I just want to know whether it's there somewhere.


MR. WOLFF:  So with respect to the evidence, if we include the model or the data in the model, it would be in there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The numbers will be in the model, but I'm asking for the explanations behind them, why this number is different than the DSP.  The DSP says we're going to spend 45 million and this number is 40.  Like that.


MR. WOLFF:  So to my knowledge we haven't done a textual description of what the individual variances might be, but in the context of our total capital spend, which would be close to 300, I think in some years even exceeds $300 million, I don't think that those variants would be material.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, $500 million is certainly material, isn't it?


MR. WOLFF:  In the context of $300 million on an annual basis, as a percentage, it wouldn't appear to be material, it would be 1.2 percent or 1.5 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  See, the reason I asked this is because we heard evidence that you couldn't possibly do a combined DSP for this entity until, like, 2019, I think it is 2019, or maybe 2018.


MS. LERETTE:  2019.


MR. SHEPHERD:  2019, and yet you're telling us that you have done new forecasts for Mergeco, haven't you?


MR. WOLFF:  Are you suggesting we've done forecasts for Mergeco as a whole?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you've said -- you've now got new forecasts of your capital spending in these four areas that aren't from a previous rate case, aren't from a DSP, they're from something else, but you can't do a DSP for the new company.  And I'm not sure I understand why.


MR. WOLFF:  So any variances in the model would have been provided by the individual companies themselves.  It's not that we sat down, looked at everything outside of synergies, that we've looked at everything and said that we're going to make changes as a result of the combined -- the combination of the entity.  So again, any variances would be specific to the entity that would have made changes to those numbers.


So I don't want a suggestion that we have already put together a combined, consolidated DSP.  I don't think that's factually correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So is it fair to say then that the -- why don't you go ahead.


MS. LERETTE:  I was just going to say on the Horizon case, I mean, we've got to play out our rate decision until the end of 2019, so we haven't made any changes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it fair to say that all of the utilities are constantly looking at what their capital needs are and so even if they have a 2014 DSP their -- your internal look at what you're going to spend is always evolving and it's those newer numbers that you're using in the model; is that fair?


MR. MacDONALD:  I can clarify.  I think I wouldn't agree exactly with that, Mr. Shepherd.  I think the -- as Mr. Wolff said, the model reflects a point in time when it was created, and there are some minor adjustments to what was filed in DSPs, as Ms. Lerette mentioned.  They are minor.


And in terms of the new DSP, you know, 2019 is not that far away when you consider the work that's required with this customer engagement and different activities that have to take place.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.


MR. MacDONALD:  It is quite a large task.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could turn to the AMPCO panel 2 compendium, K3.2.  And I'm looking at page 20.  It's the panel 2 compendium.  Sorry.  And page 20 is the cover page of a report that you -- you recognize this report?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes, yes, I do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you -- was it the companies or was it the shareholders that retained Vanry & Associates to do a review of the distribution assets?


MS. LERETTE:  It was the companies.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so this is the -- starting on page 1 is the executive summary of this.  AMPCO has not included all of it but has included some of it, and I just want to ask a couple of questions about this.


MS. SCHACHT:  Sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I'm not asking about the due diligence itself but how it affects your plans, so you have, for example, in the middle of page 21 you have -- their conclusion is that if you apply the -- let me step back a step.


Their conclusion appears to be that PowerStream has the best asset management structure of the four utilities in most respects, not in every respect, but in most respects, and has some practices that are more best practice than the others; right?


MS. LERETTE:  In some areas, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And they conclude in the middle of the page that if you apply some of those methodologies and some of those approaches, that you are going to get lower -- somewhat lower renewal spending; right?


MS. LERETTE:  Yeah, well, they said although it is hard to predict with certainty, so --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in fact, they go on to say later, don't expect dramatic changes in overall spending levels.  Right?


MS. LERETTE:  That's right, uh-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But there's going to be some, right?


MS. LERETTE:  There may be.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you haven't included any of those in your synergies, have you?


MS. LERETTE:  We have not included any savings from distribution system capital in the synergy savings.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact what you've done is you've said, "Our distribution system capital is going to be what the four utilities plan to do."


MS. LERETTE:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Not less, not more, just that.


MS. LERETTE:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  With the adjustments we just talked about.


MS. LERETTE:  Yes, and the adjustments are really around general plant, not distribution system assets.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you do expect to have some procurement savings; right?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have included those in the synergies.


MS. LERETTE:  We have, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And do we have a number?  Do you know off the top of your head what the number is or how big we're talking about?


MS. LERETTE:  29 million over the ten years.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  But aside from that, the things like applying the cable injection to the other three utilities, that sort of thing has not been included?


MS. LERETTE:  That has not, and that has not been looked at yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, you do expect that some of that is going to happen; right?


MS. LERETTE:  We do expect that we are going to look at the programs from each of the four utilities and come up with an approach going forward to Mergeco.  I mean --


MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, one of the --


MS. LERETTE:  -- I mean, the things they do in PowerStream, for example, cable injection, since you brought it up, may not be relevant to the other three utilities --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Indeed.  But --


MS. LERETTE:  -- so we have to have a look.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What you're going to do -- tell me whether this is right, and PowerStream has done this in the past, and Hamilton and St. Catharines did this as well -- is that you are going to look at the best practices in each area for each of the four utilities and see whether they can be applied to the others; right?  So Horizon may have one thing that they do really well and PowerStream may have another.  You are going to try to get all of the best practices applied across the board.


MS. LERETTE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there will be some savings from that, you would expect.


MS. LERETTE:  There might be.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you are not expecting zero, right?


MS. LERETTE:  Well, I think that when you're talking about distribution system plans, these plans are determined by long term views of our asset needs for each of the four utilities, and they are quite different between the four utilities.


And we are going to be keeping four separate rate zones going forward, so there is going to be a little bit of a separation of the four distribution plans, but each of the four utilities has very, very different asset needs, very long term view at the asset replacement needs, and you can't just change those willy-nilly midstream.


So I don't expect a lot of changes to the distribution system plans, but we haven't done that detailed analysis yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, PowerStream has something called an economic and life methodology, which is actually a method of instead of looking at the physical access of -- the physical life of an asset, you look at the economic life of an asset, right?  It is quite a sophisticated methodology, correct?


MS. LERETTE:  Correct.  For some assets, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  For some assets, but for a lot of distribution assets, right?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Vanry is saying, well, if you applied to that to some of the other three areas, you would probably have some savings.  Is that right?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes, he said that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you agree?


MS. LERETTE:  I don't know.  I haven't done that analysis yet.


MR. WOLFF:  I’d just like to add that Vanry themselves, the experts in this, said it is hard to predict with certainty.  So I just want to make sure we understand that.


So if we automatically draw the conclusion that there are savings, the ability to predict is hard.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have been in this business too long, and none of this stuff is predictable, as far as I’m concerned.  Better you run the utility than me for sure.


Let me just say – the other part of this, though, is that they said, and they’re very clearly on the bottom of this page, that they think that there will be quite substantial changes in prioritization.  That is that you will be redistributing the investment program over the respective systems.


He said:  
“We also see the distinct possibility that a merged LDC adopting a common set of leading practices could lead to the overall capital investment program being redistributed among the respective systems in proportions that are different from the current allocations."


MS. LERETTE:  Well, that's his view based on a very limited scope.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Don't you agree with that?


MS. LERETTE:  I can't say I agree with it or disagree with it until we actually go through the programs.


We each have very different methods of prioritizing projects, and we have to have a look at the four separate areas and how we are going to do these things going forward.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the reason that I'm asking this is because we asked your witnesses in panel 1 this, and that's at page 15 of our compendium, and I think it was -- maybe I'm looking at the wrong one.  No, I'm looking at the wrong one, sorry.


Yes, so page 15 of the panel 2 compendium -- of our panel 2 compendium, page -- ah, wrong.  Page 2 of our compendium, sorry.


Mr. Glicksman was asked about reprioritization, and he said – and in fact, that's what PowerStream does?  It reprioritizes, right?  It constantly looks at where the priority is to spend money?


MS. LERETTE:  I think we all do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But if you look then at page 6, Mr. Basilio says:

"Basically, we know what we have to spend in each of those areas; that's not going to change."

And it was a constant theme in panel 1, we don't expect to pre-prioritize.


So do you expect to reprioritize your spending in the different areas or not?  Because Vanry thinks you're going to.


MS. LERETTE:  Yes, so I think I mentioned before that, you know, going forward -- and we don't know what the new DSP looks like because we haven't done it yet.  But we are going to maintain four rate zones.


So I can see that the four DSPs that are on the books now are going to be very similar going forward.  We are going to look at how we prioritize spending because, as I said, we all do it a little bit differently.  But due to the long term views of these plans, I don't expect big changes to come out of these -- out of looking at re-prioritization.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So Vanry's conclusion you think is just wrong?


MS. LERETTE:  It's his one opinion.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I’m not asking whether it's his opinion.  I know it’s his opinion.  I'm asking you whether you think it's wrong.


MS. LERETTE:  Yes, so I mean -- he also says that we've all used and applied own judgment and methodologies to develop achievable plans to meet our needs.  I think that's very true.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And he also says a merged entity would expect to see funding flowing to the areas of greatest value or greatest risk potential.  Isn't that correct?


MS. LERETTE:  Well, it may be, but we haven't done that work yet and we won't know until we merge and look at asset management principles, how we prioritize work.


But I'm saying from my point of view that because we've got very detailed long term plans in each of the four utilities, and each utility has very different asset needs, that I don't expect big changes to the way we prioritize work along the four rate zones.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Who's here from PowerStream?  Mr. MacDonald, you are the only one?


When you merged with Barrie, you -- after you went through the transition, you started to reprioritize your spending and the spending in Barrie and in Aurora and in Markham, et cetera, didn't follow previous DSPs, did it?  Didn't follow previous capital plans, did it?


MR. MacDONALD:  I guess those events were pre-DSP.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you did have capital plans?


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes, we did, so I -- I think it was a -- I think called a hybrid.


Certainly the different communities that we serve had capital needs that needed to be ongoing.


Just to give you an example, Aurora was at the end of a very long feeder and needed to have back-up supply.  So there was ongoing work in each of the areas.  But the priorities –


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just stop you on that, because that's a good example, because it is not just a question of spending less that in one place, it is also spending more in one place, right?


You might find that, well, Aurora couldn’t afford to spend the great amount of money that it would take to fix this problem until it was part of PowerStream when it could, right?  And that's indeed what happened.


MR. MacDONALD:  Yes, but I think as Ms. Lerette said for this transaction, the utilities have quite robust capital plans, DSPs, and Mr. Basilio mentioned many times that there is need for cable replacement in Hamilton that is just not going to go away.  And I think in each of the four predecessor utilities, we’ll have that kind of situation.


So I agree with Ms. Lerette that the DSPs capital plans will stay largely the same for plant capital savings, except general plant, but for the foreseeable future.  And as we create the DSP, we will see if there is any blending or not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I want to mover to another area, and that is FTEs.  And I'm looking at the looking at the last page of the AMPCO panel 1 compendium, which is K1.3.  This is the page we looked at earlier that has the forecasted FTEs.  Do you have that?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I'm right, am I not, that that 1,633 people that you start with is not actually people.  That's positions, right?


MS. SCHACHT:  These are the FTEs that are -- were in each of the budgets for each of the four organizations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is what the ratepayers are paying for right now?


MS. SCHACHT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you actually have 94 vacancies right now, right?


MS. SCHACHT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are going to start dropping people -- you are going to drop 98 in the first year, but that's really just the 94 vacancies you have, right?


MS. SCHACHT:  Not all of our vacancies would necessarily map to FTE reductions.  Some will and some won't.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are not planning to have your actual number of people working for you drop substantially in year one.  In year two it is going to, but not in year one.


MS. SCHACHT:  That's correct, there is a smaller number in year one.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I do want to ask you about a couple of these lines.  The first is executive management.  I was a little taken aback to see the 34 executives in the four utilities reducing only to 27.


And we heard Mr. Basilio the other day say, well, you know, there's only going to be one CFO, and I think that's right.  And so the question is:  Why is it only going down do 27?  I asked this and they said to ask panel 2.


MS. SCHACHT:  In terms of our FTE reductions in this table, executive management and the other areas, we did a careful review of what structure was required to really meet the needs of Mergeco in terms of operational needs, customer needs, safety needs, and in terms of the -- of the structure, this is the structure that we felt was appropriate for the new organization.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When you say "we", who did the review?


MS. SCHACHT:  The review of the FTEs was done, as has been indicated previously, by subject-matter experts across all of the organizations and ultimately to the CEO level and review by the transitional committee.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, what I'm trying to understand is the executive management, who reviewed how many executives you would need?  Was it the executives?


MS. SCHACHT:  There -- it was both, actually.  There was certainly a review by the subject-matter experts that looked at these organizations, but certainly the executives would have had input -- significant input into the final decision.


The structure of the organization ultimately was approved by the existing CEOs and the transitional committee.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't have any external advisors coming in to help with you the executive structure, did you?


MS. SCHACHT:  No, we did not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And there are experts who do this, right, like Hay and Towers Perrin and people like that, right?


MS. SCHACHT:  There are consulting firms that would like to come in, yes, and consult with you on these things.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  But you didn't have anybody come in.


MS. SCHACHT:  No, we didn't feel the need that we had to do -- that we had to spend those consulting dollars.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you don't actually have any -- it is true, isn't it, that there are no other distributors in Ontario that have 27 executives; right?


MS. SCHACHT:  I can't comment on other distributors.  What I will say is that it's -- a lot of this is also about nomenclature.  You can call some -- it is really about scope of role, it is not about title, and different organizations have different naming conventions, so I really couldn't comment on that.


Our view is that this is an appropriate organization structure for Mergeco that we feel does meet our needs, and you really -- it's very difficult to make that kind of a comparison, because it -- you could have somebody called a manager in one organization that has a similar scope of responsibility as somebody that is called a director or something else in another organization.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So on what basis did you decide this was appropriate, if you didn't compare to anybody else and you didn't get any third-party experts in, how did you determine that this was appropriate?  Did you just say, "Well, we can't fire Joe"?  I mean, how did you do this?


MS. SCHACHT:  We looked at the organizational needs, the geographic region, the requirements of operating this organization, and we came up with a structure that meets those needs, and we felt that this was -- this was what we needed to run the organization.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm trying to -- I mean, I can't -- except for OPG, and they have like 1,000 executives, but except for OPG I can't think of another company in the energy industry that has 27 executive-level people.


MS. SCHACHT:  Well, I can't really -- as I said, I can't really agree with your statement because, as I said, it's a naming convention and nomenclature, and we could have said at Mergeco we have three executives and called everybody something else, and so I think at the end of the day it is really around a structure that's appropriate for your organization, and different organizations will have different naming conventions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. WOLFF:  If I can just add to those comments, with respect to the structure, executive or otherwise, it was reviewed by our, what we call our transition committee.  The majority of the members on this transition committee have been involved in the utility operations for a number of years, so I think that we can't necessarily just discount a review by that group of people.  I think we need to understand that.


So to suggest or to understand that there was absolutely no review with a view to saying, is it reasonable or not, was not conducted.  That review was undertaken.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we don't know who was on the transition committee, right?  In fact, we asked, and we were told it was not relevant, so you can't really use the transition committee as support for something being reasonable if you won't tell us who it was.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, that just sounded like an argument, as opposed to a question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, why don't you tell us who the transition committee is then?


MR. WOLFF:  So rather than verbally providing it, if we could provide it perhaps at a break or over lunch, or if there's anything that --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is that?  Mr. Basilio couldn't remember who it was the other day, and now you are not willing to say who it is?  We know Mr. Loberg is the Chair of it.  There is only four or five people on it.


MR. MacDONALD:  Mr. Shepherd, there is 13 members, and we just from the stand don't want to miss anyone, so...


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  You will provide it by undertaking?


MR. MacDONALD:  Certainly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then I can't ask any questions about it.


MR. QUESNELLE:  We can make allowance for that.  You will be here, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wasn't planning to be, but, I mean, I don't understand.  There are several people in the room who know who those people are.


MR. CASS:  Well, Mr. Basilio was asked this question, and he gave some names as best he could, but he said on the stand he couldn't just rhyme off all the names with accuracy, but he did give some names when he was on the stand.


MR. MacDONALD:  I'm afraid, Mr. Shepherd, that I might miss a name or two as well.  There are 13 members.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  They are all people who are on your boards of directors.


MR. WOLFF:  Not all of them, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There are some who are executives and some who are on the board of directors?


MR. WOLFF:  No, there's no executives.  Sorry, some of the members were not necessarily on previous boards.  I -- and again, I'm not going to start giving names out off the top of my head, but there were some new appointees under that transition committee that --


MR. SHEPHERD:  From outside the company?


MR. WOLFF:  Correct, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, tell us about that.  This is news.


MR. MacDONALD:  If I can help, perhaps the -- each of the shareholders went through a process of selecting members for the transitional committee, and, for example, for our -- I know that the city of Vaughan, for example, advertised and interviewed and selected people, and those people weren't necessarily on the PowerStream board, so that's just an example, so each of our three shareholders went through a process of selecting members for the transitional committee.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So they were people who were experienced in utility operations?


MR. MacDONALD:  I would say from my perspective a mix of skills.  Utility, finance, you know, the kinds of things you would expect on a board.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could undertake to provide the list?


MR. MacDONALD:  The names?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.


MR. MacDONALD:  Certainly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Names and titles or -- you know, just so we know who is on it.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, for the -- if it is possible to do it now, and it's appearing as though it may be, then you'll have it, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. CASS:  I have the names here, Mr. Chair, it is just a question of whether my eyesight is good enough to read them off.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You can hand it over to Mr. MacDonald.


MR. CASS:  Is it all right if I hand it --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.


MR. CASS:  -- to the witnesses?  It is just the names.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Basilio is taking that to Italy, so we have to hand it back.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is a nice laptop.  Don't give it back.


MR. MacDONALD:  Wow, this is small.  I'll try as well.


So I'll read the names of the transitional committee into the record then, Mr. Chair.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. MacDonald.


MR. MacDONALD:  Andy Taylor.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you tell us who these people are, if you can?


MR. MacDONALD:  I will if I can.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.


MR. MacDONALD:  Andy Taylor is the CAO of the City of Markham.


Annesley Wallace -- and I don't know if I need to spell that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. MacDONALD:  She's with -- she represents Borealis on the Enersource board.  Frank Scarpitti is the mayor of Markham.   Gerald Beasley is on the Enersource board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know who he is?

MR. WOLFF:  He's retired.  He is a former senior vice president of risk from CIBC.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, good.

MR. MacDONALD:  I apologize, but Pina D’Agostino.  She is one of the new members selected by the City of Vaughan.

Jeff Lehman is the mayor of Barrie.

Maurizio Bevilacqua is the mayor of Vaughan.

Bonnie Crombie is the mayor of Mississauga.  Norm Loberg is from Enersource.  He’s the chair of Enersource board.  Panel 1 mentioned his name.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Loberg is not a councillor, right, he is an independent person.

MR. WOLFF:  Independent person, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  He as businessman, or something like that?

MR. WOLFF:  He is former vice-president with Consumers Gas.  That's what they were called at the time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I couldn't hear you.

MR. WOLFF:  He was a former vice-president with Consumers Gas, which is what they were called at the time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yes, okay.  Go on.

MR. MacDONALD:  Paul Benson is Horizon.  Rob Carey is Horizon.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's all.  He is not an executive with Horizon?

MR. MacDONALD:  None of these are executives in the company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  An independent person again, a business person?

MR. WOLFF:  Yes.

MR. MacDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. MacDONALD:  And finally, this should make 13, is Teresa Moore.  She was selected through the City of Vaughan process.  She is a chartered accountant.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm going to have to say that except for Mr. Loberg, I don't see anybody on this list that I would assume would know what the appropriate number of executives for an LDC would be.  Do you?

MR. WOLFF:  I'm sorry, could you repeat the question, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't see anybody on this list, except for perhaps Mr. Loberg, who would understand what the appropriate number of executives would be for an LDC.

MS. SCHACHT:  I would make a couple of comments with respect to the boards.  Each of these boards would have an HR committee, and certainly a number of members on this board would have been -- would have served on the HR committee where there are certainly continuous reviews of all matter of human resources and organizational structure.  And as well, information from these committees would flow to the board.

And so that would be a normal process for a board of directors to look at organizational structure, executive positions, executive levels; that would occur in the normal course.

So I would say that this board is certainly well equipped to be able to look at organization structure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Do you have any other back-up or justification for your executive management plan for Mergeco that you want to offer here?

I mean, the whole point of these questions was to give you an opportunity to justify the 27 people.  If you have any more, I'm offering to listen.

MS. SCHACHT:  No, I would just offer that this is a business decision that is made to support the new organization.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just as an aside, do any of those 27 people have contracts that give them a substantial payout, or a golden parachute, or a guarantee of some sort if their job is lost?

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I object to that line of questioning on two grounds.

First, we're getting clearly into an area of specific employment contracts, which is both very personal and very private.

Second, on the ground of relevance, I object to the question.  Costs of consolidating are not going to be paid by ratepayers.

The board has indicated in its handbook that the why and the how of a transaction like this is not part of what the Board considers.

In my submission, this question about contracts of particular executives is not relevant to anything that's under consideration in this proceeding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, the Renewed Regulatory Framework for Electricity requires every utility, in a merger or otherwise, to be constantly looking for continuous improvement, constantly looking for productivity.

It is not consistent with the RRFE for a utility to have a bloated management structure, even if the shareholders are paying for it.  It is not consistent with that concept; it is not what the Board has said to the utilities they should be doing.  They should be trying to be as lean and productive as possible at all times.

And what Mr. Cass appears to be saying is it is not relevant whether they are trying to be productive.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, it I might just respond to that?   Mr. Shepherd can make that argument in argument and it can be responded to.  The information that he has requested is not needed for him to make that argument.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have no further submissions.  I believe the question should be answered.  I didn't ask for individuals; I just asked are there any.


MR. QUESNELLE:  In the context of the harm test, Mr. Shepherd, if you put it in that context, I recognize what you are saying about continuous improvement and I think the Board, in previous decisions, considers the status quo potential for improvement versus the merged potential for improvement, and the comparison of the two as being relevant to the no harm.

Can you put it in that context as to how responding to that, as to whether or not the 27 is an appropriate amount?  Are you suggesting that the status quo continuous improvement expectations compared to the Mergeco. continuous improvement expectations, that there's a failure, a potential failure in the no harm test?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I haven't, and I don't think it would be appropriate for me to ask whether the 34 assumption of the status quo is correct.  It is how many they have.  And that's really something that I should have asked in the rate case, as it was important.

What I'm saying is that just because 27 is better than 34 doesn't mean that's okay.

The -- if, in fact, the appropriate number of executives, or the appropriate structure is three or $4 million a year less, then that should be a factor that the Board should be concerned about, because the Board has to be concerned with whether this is a fair deal -- not a fair deal, that's incorrect -- whether the proposal for how the savings are to be shared is appropriate.

And I mean the whole of my cross-examination has been about that.  Are they proposing to share the savings appropriately.

Well, if the savings are bigger, there is more to share.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  But your question as to whether or not 27 is -- is it that it's too much or that it could be less, and therefore there is potentially higher savings?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right, and our thesis is that part of the reason is because they've given golden parachutes to some of their executives and, as a result, they can't get rid of them.

And I'm just asking that question: is that true?  I mean, surely if it's true, it is relevant to the Board, particularly if they were done in the last couple of years.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chairman, I might just say that ground of argument to support a case of relevance would make virtually any question in a Board proceeding relevant, to speculate that there might be something in a document if it was produced that leads Mr. Shepherd in the direction of his speculation.

One can do that about any document.  Well, if you were to produce this document, I might see such and such.

In my submission, that is not a ground for relevance.  There is no evidentiary basis to think that such a thing exists that Mr. Shepherd is referring to.

And also I stress again we are talking about very private and very personal information here of a nature that I don't believe this Board would normally receive into evidence.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, we certainly don't receive it at the individual level, Mr. Cass.  But as you are aware, in our filing requirements an aggregation of any kind of compensation is acceptable, if doesn't lead to identification of an individual's compensation.

MS. SCHACHT:  Sorry, I can comment that in B-SEC-12, we did respond to your question about contract arrangements in aggregate, and that we did indicate that there were 13 executives that had some arrangements in the contracts.

Those are not -- and that doesn't necessarily -- it certainly doesn't go with your thesis that that requires us to keep people, and it even isn't even necessarily those executives that will or won’t have roles in the true structure.  So we have responded as we have responded.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, Mr. Cass's argument is that -- appears to me that I have to find an evidentiary basis first before I can ask a question, but of course with information asymmetry, that means that I can't ask any question if they don't start with any evidence.  So they've given us nothing to go on.


We do know that 13 contracts have some sort of restrictions in them.  All I want to know is, is this an influence over having 27 executives.  If that's costing them an extra $3 million a year, let's say, that's $30 million over ten years, and that's $30 million that we want to be able to argue some of that should go to the ratepayers.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, I guess when we take into context what we're examining and taking into context -- and I take your comments from last week that the Board is not bound by its own policies, and I recognize that, but we did have a purpose for putting out the handbook, and the purpose was to scope this in such a way that we could manage the applications themselves.


We saw that we were -- in previous MAADs applications we didn't have a -- there wasn't as common an understanding of what the scope of what the Board was interested in, and that's what the handbook is designed to do.


So recognizing -- and certainly we have been provided the latitude to, you know, have your thesis tested and allow you to have, in argument, make the case that perhaps this policy arrives at such a place, and you want to expose that, you know, as the Board has to consider what the ramifications of the application of its own policy, and we recognize that, but to take that to its fullest, it wouldn't be -- I wouldn't suggest that this is the only area then that we would have to do that examination.  Wouldn't you have to do kind of a full ten-year pro forma testing of what's the lowest possible way to run these, do a full cost of service on a projected basis of Mergeco to see what that delta could possibly be?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, you're right, 100 percent you're right, but I've tried to be very careful to avoid going in that direction, which I hope I've succeeded in, and try to only find some examples of areas where the savings have been understated relevant to what a reasonable person would expect will happen, and that -- you see, Mr. Chairman, look, our argument is going to be -- and I'm not sure it's any surprise to anybody -- that this Board should order that a certain level of savings should be delivered to the ratepayers over the next ten years, and that you should set what that level is, here -- the ratepayers are going to get this over the next ten years.  Whatever you get in above that, that's fine.  And the justification for that is going to be that there's 425 million-plus more available.


And so if you give the ratepayers X, then they can still do very fine, and so that's going to be our argument.  To do that we need to show examples where the synergies are understated, and that's what I'm trying to do, and I think I actually have my answer, in fact.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I think you probably do, and I think that that would satisfy from a directional point of view, because we are not going to get to a precision that's allowing us to do math on this irrespective, so I think if you have enough for your argument, Mr. --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  -- Shepherd, we can probably stop there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


Then my last area, which will be like two minutes, I think, is if you could go to our Panel 1 compendium -- this was punted over to you.  And that is -- and you were asked -- the Panel 1 was asked questions on this on pages 19 and 20 of our Panel 1 compendium.


Panel 1 was asked questions about this by myself and then again by Mr. Janigan, and we were both confused, so I wonder if you could help me with -- there's a line that says "ongoing costs" in the merger integration dashboard.  And then there is a different line that says "transition costs", and we didn't -- couldn't figure out what the difference was.


MR. PASTORIC:  I'll try to provide some clarity.


When you are looking at the merger integration dashboard -- I believe that's the diagram on page 19 of your compendium.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. PASTORIC:  Go down to "less than ongoing costs".  The ongoing costs are new costs that are borne by bringing the four utilities together.  They are not transitional costs.  These will be -- what we've determined is that we require a few more individuals within our engineering group.  Those are ongoing OM&A costs, so there's four individuals that would be added into our engineering group.  That is also five individuals within our ops group that we see as necessary when we reconfigure our organization.  So that would be additional labour costs.  It is also hardware maintenance and software maintenance that would be ongoing with our new configuration, bringing the systems together, as well as workforce management licences, which is another piece of software.  So those are --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So all four of those things are things in which you are actually going to have savings, right?  You are going to have savings in your engineering department --


MR. PASTORIC:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- you are going to have savings in your ops group, you are going to have services in your -- what was the third one?


MR. PASTORIC:  I believe it's maintenance, licences, and so forth.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are going to have savings in maintenance and licences.  So what I don't understand is, this is -- you are going to have savings, but then you're going to have costs as well?  I don't -- I don't --


MR. PASTORIC:  What we are doing is we're just making sure that we have a clear accounting for when we do have savings, but there will be incremental costs that are ongoing.  We just wanted to make sure that we had an accounting for it that it was clear.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So none of your savings are net; they are all gross.  Because I certainly understood your savings to be net throughout.


(Panel confers)


MR. WOLFF:  So for clarity, the presentation here separates it out, so the synergies would be gross, and then we've got some additional costs down below.  Some of our capital costs are shown -- those synergies are shown as net, and I just wanted to be clear that we don't get confused in between the different presentations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Here's what I don't understand.  What it looks like to me -- and I was aware that -- of where this money was, because you can actually see it in the model, right?  You can actually see where it comes from in the model, if you go under the hood and look at all the details, which I did.


It would appear to me -- and I'm inviting you to disagree with me -- that you said, well, we can save -- let's say we can save ten people in engineering, but this is an opportunity to make our engineering function better by adding five people or four people or whatever it is, that we -- to do things that we couldn't do before, so we're going to save ten people because of duplication and overlap, et cetera, but we're going to then improve our function functionality; is that right?  And that's why we're going to add people.  Those ongoing costs are improving functionality.


MS. LERETTE:  No, I think it's more of a -- where people identified redundant positions by position, so they've listed them out, and where we've taken -- we looked at the four organizations and brought them together, and where we saw a new position that wasn't identified in our existing org charts, it was just a different name of a person.  They put it in that section because it was different, right?


So we were tracking existing employees that were redundant, and in this section ongoing costs would be any new types of employees or a new title that wasn't in our existing org charts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you said, well, we can get rid of -- let's say in engineering -- we can get rid of these ten people, but -- or these ten positions, but we can't get rid of everything they're doing, and the people who are left aren't going to be able to do everything they're doing, so we need another four people to do what those ten people were doing, or -- because those ten people are gone; is that fair?


MS. LERETTE:  No, it is just a matter that they're called different titles or doing a combination of things, so we just called them different positions, and it's just to track who's leaving and who's left and maybe a change of title so we can track it on the org chart.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So these areas, the two that you've mentioned, engineering and operations, these are not areas in which you are going to add capabilities over these ten years?


(Panel confers)


MS. LERETTE:  So, for example, part of the new positions and operations are project control people, so we have that in Horizon, but the other three organizations don't necessarily have them.


So we've just -- we've just named those people, and then we have them on the org chart, so it's not necessarily that they're brand-new.  It's maybe one utility does them and the others don't and we've created positions to look after those tasks.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So a good example.  So if Horizon has a best practice, and you are saying, well, the other three should have this best practice, but it means we have to take some of these people that we could have -- we could have -- would have been surplus, and we have to repurpose them, in effect, to apply this best practice which will be good over time; right?


MS. LERETTE:  Well, or you could have taken an engineer and put them into project controls --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MS. LERETTE:  -- right, so maybe you've gotten rid of an engineer but redeployed them to project control, so they would have a different title.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I apologize for going longer than I said, but I am now finished.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Shepherd.


We'll take our lunch now, and we've got some business at lunch, so we will return at 1:40.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:18 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:47 p.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Anything we need to deal with, Mr. Cass?  No?  Thank you. Mr. Janigan?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


I have another compendium that I will be using in addition to the original compendium.  I wonder if that could be marked as an exhibit.


MS. HELT:  Yes, and the panel members we have placed a copy on the dais for you.


That will be marked as K3.3, the compendium of VECC for panel number 2.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.3:  VECC COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 2


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, panel.  If I could refer to compendium number 1, that I believe you have, on page 18 of that compendium, we asked some questions concerning the SAIDI and SAIFI results for the utilities that are to be merged.


And I noted that with the exception of the 2013 Enersource and HOBNI -- with the exception of the 2013, Enersource and HOBNI have significantly better SAIDI and SAIFI results than the other utilities over 2010 to 2014 period.


In addition, on page 20 of that compendium, we also provided the results from a response to an AMPCO interrogatory on page 20.  I don't know if I have the number of the interrogatory, but the reliable metrics are set out there.


And I take it that when you reviewed these statistics -- well, let's put it that way -- I take it you agree with those comments?


MR. PASTORIC:  I believe all the statistics are from the OEB yearbook.  So yes, we would agree with the numbers.


MR. JANIGAN:  And in that interrogatory on page 18 of the VECC number 3, we asked for the reasons for the differences and what steps would be made to ensure superior service reliability.


And you noted that there may be a number of different reasons regarding business conditions that may account for that.  Is that correct?


MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Could it also be a matter of best practices associated with Enersource and HOBNI?


MR. PASTORIC:  I would say it's difficult to put a linear correlation between best practices and the reliability differences between the four utilities.


I think each of them have a unique situation with the mix of customers they have, the age of their system, the historical investment, as well as how trouble crews go out in the evening.


So I can't answer a hundred percent that it would be best practices, the reasons for that.   I think there are differences and we really haven't gone down to that degree of saying it’s because, you know, Enersource uses trouble trucks, or we do switching differently than someone else.  I can't categorically say there is a linear relationship.


MR. JANIGAN:  I'll return to the issue of best practices in a moment.  But after this merger transaction, how will the consolidated utility report on the reliability of the individual service territories?


MR. PASTORIC:  Our current approach will be that in each of the rate zones, we will provide the SAIDI and SAIFI for each of the rate zones.  So we'll be monitoring as we do now, and there will be comparability.


If, in the future, the OEB wants us to report either on rate zone or as a collective, we'll do so.  But that's more of on a reporting basis, but we will monitor on an individual basis, and I believe in our previous evidence we've indicated so.


MR. JANIGAN:  How often will those reports be issued?


MR. PASTORIC:  Once a year is currently what we report on.  But we do do monthly within each of the utilities for our own internal tracking.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, would you agree with me that there is a directed correlation between capital spending and reliability?


MR. PASTORIC:  Since I've had this discussion with my board several times, I would say that there is a loose relationship, but not a direct relationship.


You can't just say that I'm going to spend a million dollars more and reduce the outages by a minute.  It depends on what's happening in the utility from a loading point of view.


This summer, we’ve have a lot of 30-degree days.  That's different than any other time, so weather has an impact.  If it's raining, the water going into the cables has a different issue.


There are many factors that influence reliability.  It is not a direct dollars to outages minutes.


MR. JANIGAN:  So it wouldn't be safe for this Panel to assume that the ICM proposals that are used in this proceeding, or proposed in this proceeding are critical to on maintaining -- or contemplated in the proceeding, I guess I should say, are critical to maintaining service reliability?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. PASTORIC:  I think we've provided evidence indicating that our systems are aging, and one of the factors that we have put in evidence is that aging is a major component to the reliability, so it does have a correlation. 


Would I say it's a hundred percent?  No, but it does have an impact.  So I would say that if we did not get the capital, our systems would continue to age and the system would deteriorate and reliability would be harmed.


MR. JANIGAN:  So there’s a correlation, but not necessarily --


MR. PASTORIC:  Not a one-to-one.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now getting back to the issue of best practices, I note and I -- I don't know if this is actually in evidence or not, but your submission on the presentation day -- I don't necessarily know if you necessarily have to have it before you.  But I'm just looking at the summary page on page 25, and I'm only going to quote a couple of sentences here.


And it says:

"The consolidated utility will be focused on are reducing operating expenditures and improving productivity through enhanced utilization of existing assets."


And then below that:

"It expects to maintain or improve overall service levels of its predecessor utilities through the implementation of new technologies and adoption of the best work practices."


Now, I take it in your conversation with Mr. Shepherd earlier that you have a particular task force, or a part of the company that's devoted to this sort of implementation of best practices.  Is that correct?


MR. PASTORIC:  In the future, we have a group that will be looking at process improvements, that's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And what is that group?


MR. PASTORIC:  It's called transformation.


MR. JANIGAN:  And is that composed of the representatives from all of the merged utilities, or who is it composed of?


MR. PASTORIC:  Currently, it hasn't been staffed, if I can use that phrase.  It is one position amongst the executives that will be staffed and, once that individual is in place, they will assemble their team.


There will be organizational effectiveness people.  There will be people from a variety of backgrounds.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, would you agree with me that in the past, the merged utilities have been somewhat -- perhaps somewhat incurious about the practices about other utilities?


MR. PASTORIC:  Sorry, I'm not sure if I understand the your question.  When you say -- companies?


MR. JANIGAN:  Sorry, yes.  Let me take through you through our second compendium, and perhaps you -- it is a little more illustrative of what I'm trying to get at in K3.3.


If we look at the transcript from EB--2014-0002, it's the Horizon corporation application, and we look at an exchange that takes place on page 5 of that compendium, that -- in response to a question from Board member Elsayed at the top of the page, Ms. Lerette indicates problems associated with benchmarking against other utilities, and indicates that there are a couple of -- in the second paragraph:

"So there are a couple of barriers there.  We do benchmark against ourselves.  We have activity-base costing, but we can look at our unit costs year over year and try to continuously improve those costs.  But when we go to other utilities or our peers and we network with them, not all have activity-base costing.  So we don't all track unit cost the same."


And it goes on with: 

"Our design and our construction standards differ between utilities, depending on what kind of systems you have and what voltages you have.  So that's problematic to benchmark.  And field conditions are different.  It is much different changing a pole in downtown Toronto than it is out in the country in Hamilton, for instance.  So it is very difficult to benchmark.  I don't think there is enough utilities out there that are actually tracking units costs to the same level that we are, that we can actually share that information."


So at least in this circumstance in relation to looking at your unit costs comparing them to others in the past, there have been difficulties probably based on this case based on your system rather than your desire to actually obtain that information.


MS. LERETTE:  Yeah.  And this conversation was really around the capital program and unit costs for construction methods, not necessarily best practices across the organization.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, now, is this going to be a problem in relation to the merged utilities?  In fact, you have a system of tracking costs that appears to be different than most of your peers.


MS. LERETTE:  I think this is an opportunity for us.  I know Horizon has done some work on benchmarking.  We benchmark against ourselves and actually our contractors, who use the same system of accounting as we do, but now we've got an opportunity -- now that we can see details of the other three companies and the way they cost projects and track costs that we can probably merge these together to get some better benchmarking against the four of us.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Is this an -- I take it this is a necessity if you are going to operate as a merged unit?


MS. LERETTE:  I would say, yes, it is.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, now, if you look on page 7 of my compendium, dealing with a -- an application from PowerStream.  EB-2015-0003.  There is an exchange with Ms. Girvan and Mr. MacDonald with respect to the comparison with other utilities using this -- the ERP system that was chosen by PowerStream, and Ms. Girvan indicates:

"You haven't compared the cost of your J.D. Edwards system to the cost incurred by other utilities at all?"


Mr. MacDonald indicates: 

"No.  As Ms. Cunningham said, doing the budget -- preparing the budget, our IT staff would have talked to the vendors to get some reasonable pricing to put forward, but we didn't talk to other utilities."

I take it that at least among the merged utilities this kind of practice is going to be at an end?


MR. MacDONALD:  Just, first, Mr. Janigan, the context of this exchange was a software upgrade to a financial system.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MR. MacDONALD:  So that pricing is available from the market.  We're talking to vendors, as we indicated in our testimony.


But to answer your question, when we're all one company we'll certainly be sharing best practices and looking at these kinds of issues together.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And on the following page there is another exchange with Ms. Girvan and Ms. Cunningham regarding the replacement program for trucks, and Ms. Girvan indicates halfway down the page:

"Have you done any analysis that compares your replacement program, the elements of that, with respect to what other utilities are doing?

"Yes, so my understanding is the replacement cycle that's been determined is largely based on what the manufacturer is suggesting for a replacement cycle.  When they come up with -- when they have proposed the replacement cycle, my understanding, the individuals on staff have worked on it, and they have in fact gone out and discussed with others what they're doing.  So the replacement cycle that gets set -- they get set from a plan perspective, and we again go back to the individual bucket trucks, where we consider the condition at the time.

"So do you -- my question was really about looking at other utilities.  I would characterize that as potentially benchmarking."


And Ms. Cunningham says: 

"I would say that the question has been answered, but not in a formal way."


Effectively, I take it that these kind of comparisons between the merged utilities are going to be much more common.


MS. LERETTE:  So as far as fleet is concerned, they are undertaking that process right now.  I know in the Horizon rate case we had comparisons from other utilities on fleet replacement criteria and what they consider as important when they're looking at replacing a vehicle or rebuilding an equipment, so we have done some of that benchmarking against other utilities, and now we have the information for the four of us in-house.  It should be no problem rationalizing that.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, and I have another -- and my compendium has another example in Enersource of dealing with an exchange between Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Macumber in EB-2015-0065 that indicates that at least with respect to replacement of transformers, there didn't seem to be any other comparison done with utilities.


I take it, as you've indicated, this kind of sort of silo approach is probably at an end, at least for your -- the four merged utilities.


MR. PASTORIC:  Currently we are looking at all aspects of our business to ensure that we are sharing information and looking at best practices.


In the case of our transformer replacement program dealing with leakers, as we call them, I've had discussion with others in other utilities, and they have had it to one degree or another, so we are sharing information, and that will be something that we continue with.


So if it's transformers, if it's IT, or if it's any aspect of the business, we're sharing quite deeply.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, the other side of the coin is, of course, that the individual utilities in the past have developed efficiencies and best practices on their own.


Will the merged utilities still be able to encourage such efforts on the part of the individual utilities to seek their own efficiencies and best practices and not necessarily in a centralized fashion?


MS. LERETTE:  Yeah, I think our people -- our subject-matter experts that are working on -- that worked on some of the synergy savings, they are trying to really evaluate what each individual utility does and pull out some best practices from those.


We may need to look outside the four utilities also for best practices if we think there is something even better out there.  But that's an ongoing continuous improvement motion that's going to happen going forward in the merged utility.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I'd like to switch topics to a matter of governance.  And we asked for the organizational structure of the new consolidated company, and that was filed in confidence.


Why was this organizational structure filed in confidence?  Why is this confidential?


MS. SCHACHT:  We filed it in confidence because we have not yet communicated this organizational structure to our staff.  We have certain time lines that we're following, and we want to announce this organizational structure, you know, probably closer to the time where we're ready to announce some of the successful candidates for those roles, and so that's why we filed this in confidence.


MR. JANIGAN:  Has the governance structure actually been approved?


MS. SCHACHT:  The org structure that we filed has been approved, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And who approved that?


MS. SCHACHT:  It was approved by the transitional committee.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And we went through the members of the transitional committee with Mr. Shepherd.


MS. SCHACHT:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Have the roles and responsibilities for everybody that's been identified in the organizational structure also been set out?


MS. SCHACHT:  I would say generally we do have what, at this point, we are calling draft position descriptions.  Again, those will be further articulated as we actually get into our new organizational structure, but, yes, I think generally we understand the roles for these positions.


MR. JANIGAN:  As I recall from the technical conference, there seemed to be some confusion of whether or not -- at least one of the individuals who is working for the Holdco or the Mergeco; has that been straightened out?


(Panel confers)


MS. SCHACHT:  I believe you are referring to the legal corporate structure, and those discussions are still currently in process.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But, I mean, do each of these individuals -- for example, did Mr. Bentz, Mr. Cananzi, and Mr. Gregg know which corporation they're working for?


(Panel confers)

MS. SCHACHT:  At this point, what I can say is that the CEO position that is going to be held by Mr. Benz is a Holdco -- would be in the Holdco and certainly the LDC role would be part of the LDC.


The other role, I think we are still having some discussions because that role has some responsibilities both in the LDC and in other parts of the organization.


MR. JANIGAN:  Did I understand that to mean Mr. Benz holds responsibilities in both the Hold Co. and the LDC?  Is that what you're saying?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. SCHACHT:  So the role held by Mr. Benz is Holdco, and he would have responsibility for the entire organization.


MR. JANIGAN:  And Mr. Cananzi, what does he do?


MS. SCHACHT:  He is leading the LDC part of the business.  So that would be what we are referring to as LDC Co.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, LDC Co.  And Mr. Benz's responsibility is supervising Mr. Cananzi or --


MS. SCHACHT:  Both Cananzi and Mr. Gregg will report in to Mr. Benz.


MR. JANIGAN:  And what does Mr. Gregg do?


MS. SCHACHT:  He has responsibility for the corporate services and also the non-regulated business.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And they both report to Mr. Benz?


MS. SCHACHT:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  In the event we had a proceeding where the LDC was an applicant, would it be Mr. Cananzi that appeared as the CEO, or Mr. Benz, or neither?


MR. MacDONALD:  I don't think we really can speculate on who would appear at this stage.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So, you're transformation committee would be examining the way in which the four merged utilities can incorporate the best practices of the four utilities, as well as operate as a single LDC.  Is that correct?


MR. PASTORIC:  The transformation group has multiple roles.  One is tracking synergies.  It will also manage large corporate projects, as well as process improvements.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Janigan, your question on who would appear as the -- on behalf of the LDC, if there was an application from the LDC -- and I recognize that the answer was that you can’t speculate.


But would you know who would sign an attestation to the certification of anything that the LDC would be filing?


MR. MacDONALD:  Mr. Chair, do you mean when the application is certified before it is filed?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, or on annual filings that come in through RRR or anything like that, when the CEO would be required to sign off, who would sign off for the LDC?


MR. MacDONALD:  I think it would be the CEO, who is  Mr. Benz.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Benz for the LDC?  Okay.


MR. MacDONALD:  He has overall responsibility for the entire company.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. JANIGAN:  I thought Mr. Benz was CEO of the Hold Co.  Is he also CEO of the LDC?


MS. SCHACHT:  If we could just clarify, because I think we did cover this ground on a previous day.  There is only one CEO, and that CEO is Mr. Benz.


There are two -- there are two individuals reporting in to Mr. Benz, Mr. Cananzi and Mr. Gregg, who have responsibility for certain aspects of the business, but they are not CEOs.


MR. JANIGAN:  So Mr. Benz holds a dual CEO position with Hold Co. and the LDC?


MR. WOLFF:  Sorry, just for clarity, when you say a dual role, I'm not sure that we’re understanding that.  So Mr. Benz is the CEO.


MR. JANIGAN:  Of what?


MR. WOLFF:  Of all the companies; of the entire operation.  So in panel 1, I think it was described that if we get into nomenclature about presidents on the LDC versus a president on the -- we'll call it the support services, these could be characterized the as -- the president of the LDC could be characterized as chief operating officer, or something of that nature, whereas Mr. Gregg's position could be characterized as the chief administrative officer.


So if we get into the context of who is the CEO, it's Mr. Benz.  I just want that for absolute --


MS. LONG:  I think what we want is ultimate -- we want clarity as to who is ultimately responsible for the LDC.  I think that's what Mr. Janigan is trying to get at.


MR. WOLFF:  And in that context, the CEO has the ultimate responsibility, and that would be Mr. Benz.


MS. LONG:  And Mr. Cananzi is going to be the president of the LDC.


MR. WOLFF:  Which could be aligned with a chief operating officer in some way.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.


MR. JANIGAN:  Is it possible to get a job description for each of these individuals, and their relative responsibilities, if possible?


MS. SCHACHT:  There is a press release that was provided after the announcement of the appointment of these three positions, and it does articulate the relative responsibilities of each of these roles.


MR. JANIGAN:  Is it possible that you have a document, an internal document that actually lays out, in the usual fashion, what the role and responsibilities are?


MS. SCHACHT:  Yes.  We do have that, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Can you produce those for those three individuals?


MS. SCHACHT:  Yes.


MS. HELT:  So Undertaking J3.1 will be to produce a document setting out the job description and responsibilities.


And just to be clear for the record, we are talking about the CEO position of Hold Co., the president and COO position of LDC Co. -- and was there another one, Mr. Janigan?


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, I had identified it with respect to the name themselves, Mr. Benz, Mr. Cananzi and Mr. Gregg.


MS. HELT:  All right.


MR. JANIGAN:  If I'm missing anyone that has a CEO responsibility, let me know.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And would that -- those documents provide us with an understanding of the reporting structure in a corporate fashion as well?  We're talking about the individuals, and I take your point that you're saying Mr. Benz is the CEO of the overall corporation, Hold Co.


But if LDC Co. is a separate corporation, what's the governance around that?  What's the -- we'd like that included, if it's not already.


MS. SCHACHT:  These position descriptions would not speak to the corporate governance structure.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Can we have that layered on in a fashion that allows us to see both at the same time?


MR. WOLFF:  By will add that to the Undertaking.


MS. HELT:  So that will be part of Undertaking J3.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  TO PRODUCE A DOCUMENT SETTING OUT THE JOB DESCRIPTION AND RESPONSIBILITIES FOR MR. BENZ, MR. CANANZI AND MR. GREGG, AND TO PROVIDE THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE; TO CONFIRM WHETHER IT'S MR. BENTZ OR MR. CANANZI THAT IS ON THE BOARD OF THE LDC


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  So finally, panel, the transformational -- the transformation committee or group or force, that's just starting up now.  Is that what you're saying?


MR. MacDONALD:  Mr. Janigan, not the transformational committee, we – the transformation committee that we spoke of earlier.  This is inside the organization.


MR. JANIGAN:  Transformation.  Yes, I was going to say there is the transitional and then there is the transformation.


I am dealing first with the transformation, and they were the ones that are tracking synergies, process improvements, and things of that nature.


MR. PASTORIC:  Currently that function is dealt with for committee, and once the CEO and presidents decide on who will lead the transformational group, as those positions haven't been chosen as yet, those duties for tracking synergies and so forth will be transferred to that transformational group.  It's currently being done by a committee.


MR. JANIGAN:  And who's on the committee?


MR. PASTORIC:  On the transfer -- it's called SIOC, Synergies and integration oversight committee.  Brenda Schact, Cathy Lerette, and myself, Mark Henderson from PowerStream, Kim Boyle from Enersource, Tom Wasik from Brampton, Roseanna Broderick from Brampton, and Barb Grey from PowerStream --


MR. JANIGAN:  And how long have you been meeting?


MR. PASTORIC:  Since -- I would say almost a year now.


MR. JANIGAN:  And the transitional committee, how long has that been meeting?


MR. PASTORIC:  The transitional committee was formed after the merger participation agreement was signed in March --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yeah.


MR. PASTORIC:  -- and before that it was an advisory committee of equal representation from the three merging participants.


MR. JANIGAN:  And when was approval given to the governance structure by the transition committee?


(Panel confers)


MR. PASTORIC:  Just to ensure that we have got a clear answer, how do you define governance structure?  Because we are talking about org charts here and we're talking about a few other things.  We just want to make sure that we're answering your question correctly.


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, the organizational structure and, you know, part and parcel of which was the -- obviously who does what.


(Panel confers)


MS. SCHACHT:  I believe that it was approved a couple of months ago.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MS. SCHACHT:  The org structure, that is, the organization structure.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, okay.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Janigan, can I just --


MR. JANIGAN:  Sure, go ahead.


MS. LONG:  -- interject here for a moment?  The Chair had asked you for some information with respect to the corporate governance structure.  I just want to confirm that that information will include whether it's Mr. Bentz or Mr. Cananzi that is on the board of the LDC, so you can include that in your undertaking response, please?  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And just on that, if at all possible, it would be nice to have that over the evening hours and into the morning.  If we could have that by tomorrow morning while you're still with us in case we have any questions, that would be great.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, panel.  Thank you, Mr. Chair, those are all my questions for this panel.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  Ms. Grice.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Grice:


MS. GRICE:  Thank you, panel.  Good afternoon.  I have some follow-up questions from Panel 1 that were referred to panel 2, and Mr. Shepherd has asked AMPCO's questions on the Vanry & Associates report that looked at the DSPs and asset condition assessments of the four LDCs, so I just have a few follow-up questions.


So if we can turn, first, to page 3 of AMPCO's compendium number 1, please.  The last bullet there says that -- this is a slide that talks about the customer value creation:

"Customers will benefit from being served by a larger utility that will have an expanded ability to monitor, report on, and improve system reliability and power quality, given its greater resources."


And then I note that in the examination-in-chief of panel 2, Mr. Wolff indicated that reliability is going to be maintained throughout the existing service tory (sic), so AMPCO just wanted to have a clear understanding on what the commitment is around reliability and power quality.


MR. CASS:  Just by way of clarification, Mr. Chair, I think there was a mistake in the transcript that Mr. Pastoric's comments were inadvertently attributed to Mr. Wolff.  I think was Mr. Pastoric who addressed that in examination-in-chief.


I've actually discussed that with the reporter, and I think they were going to make a correction.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.


MR. PASTORIC:  I believe the question is a bit of a two-parter.  One is, how do we improve reliability?  First, as we've indicated in our evidence-in-chief, essentially we are maintaining our front-line staff to deal with power outages and power quality issues, so by maintaining the front-line staff we believe we'll maintain at least the response time to outages.


However, by drawing upon a larger work force in a very diverse geographical area, we may be able to better our performance by bringing in staff that aren't affected by the outage.


If I take you back to December of 2013, we had an ice storm that hit Metro Toronto, Vaughan, and so forth.  When looking at that incident, Vaughan was dramatically affected, Hydro One Brampton was dramatically affected.  Enersource was able to put everyone back within about 22 hours, and I believe Horizon was at a lesser time because they weren't as affected to the ice storm.  They were affected, but not as much.


From that point of view we could have brought forces up from Hamilton and St. Catharines to assist in the case of Brampton and Vaughan, which would have reduced their outage time, so we see that there is a potential for bettering our reliability.


Since we are maintaining our staff we believe we can maintain.  However, by our diversity I believe we can also better it.


In addition, because of the best practice that each of the groups use -- and it could be how we roll out trucks in the case of an outage, where we drop our equipment -- sorry, drop-ship our equipment, we may be able to shorten outage times, so we see that as a benefit of having the diverse work force as well as the geography, so we believe we can do quite a good job on the reliability side.


MS. LERETTE:  If I could just add to that too that our intention also is to continue with our DSPs on the distribution system side and renewing our assets, and we also have a great opportunity in the Mergeco within the four utilities to leverage technology of the other companies.


PowerStream, for example, is far advanced from Horizon, if you want to just do a comparison on their outage management system.  They have the AMI system, all the meters tied into their outer management, so they get good upfront notice.


We can leverage their knowledge and implementing these kind of systems to get us where we need to be faster, so there are lots of examples of where we can leverage each other's technology to improve reliability.


MS. GRICE:  So can we assume then that that would translate into improvements in SAIDI and SAIFI?  Are you making that commitment?


MR. PASTORIC:  Our commitment is to maintain reliability.  Can I guarantee anything?  Unfortunately not.  I think there are so many variables in this situation, but our intent is to maintain.  Could not guarantee, just like if I was -- I must say, this week I had the experience of buying a car with my son.  We knew what the cost was, we knew what the plan was; however, the mileage cannot be guaranteed by the manufacturer, and it is similar to reliability.


We can do everything on our end, but at the end of the day, the weather will change, situations will change.  This heat wave wasn't predictable a year or so ago, but our intent and our direction and our plans are that we will maintain or better our reliability.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And just with the activities that you described that would better reliability, given the greater resources that you have, is it possible then that you could have additional efficiencies or synergies, cost savings, because of the four utilities coming together with their resources?


MR. PASTORIC:  I think a good example of that would be our control rooms.  Right now we have four control rooms.  We are planning to move from four to two control rooms.  A simple example would be night shift.  By the end of three to five years we will reduce the night shift, which is traditionally one or two people, down to two operating centres or two control rooms, which brings it down to almost half.


By being diversified, being at different ends of the territory, it is sort of a perfect solution to BCM.  If you have a major outage that affects the building that you're in, we can operate from the other site, which is a hot site.  Right now most of the utilities will have a hot control room, from the point of view of one that's active, and then a dormant one that has to be activated, and it takes a long time to come up to speed.  Right now we can instantaneously switch over once we've finished our plans.


So I see that there is going to be synergies in cost savings once we do things of that nature.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, and so with reduced restoration times, have those synergies been included in the cost savings that have been identified?


MR. PASTORIC:  In the case of the control-room synergies, yes, they have been.  Regarding reliability decreases, it would be hard to predict the savings if reliability changes.  Again, it's not a one-to-one, but if reliability goes down by a minute or up by a minute, we can correlate ten truck rolls or other metrics of that nature.


So it is difficult to say that there is going to be actual synergies from the reliability, but we do have synergies that we've incorporated into our plan, yes.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  In your discussion with Mr. Janigan, he identified that there is different SAIDI and SAIFI reliability metrics.  They differ between the four LDCs, and you are going to be putting together a new DSP for 2019.  And I wondered if it is LDC Co.'s intention to reprioritize some of the savings or some of the spending to the LDCs that are more challenged with their reliability metrics.


Is that something that the DSP is going to look at?


MS. LERETTE:  As I think I was going down this path with Mr. Shepherd before that, you know, we currently have four DSPs.  We plan on executing the four DSPs as they are now. 


We will be writing a new DSP for the merged company in 2019, but really our plans are -- the asset needs in the if you are organizations are very different.  Our asset management plans have determined replacement needs based on long term plans, and I really don't see, even if we start reprioritizing or have a different methodology for prioritizing projects, I really don't see much of a difference of, you know, shift in where the money's spent.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  We've talked about the reliability side of improvement.  Can you just speak to power quality, how LDC Co. could potentially improve power quality?


MR. PASTORIC:  Currently, each of the utilities has a -- I'll call it a process to evaluate power quality for its large users specifically.  In each case, we will be looking at what is the best practices with each utility.


In the case of Enersource, our large users, we meet twice a year.  We provide them with reliability maps that show the maintenance, every outage, why the outage occurred, and work with the customer to ensure that we have a reasonable plan moving forward.


That is Enersource's approach, but it is not all four utilities' approach.  We'll have to take a look at what we do with each of our customers in each of our zones to ensure that we have got the best practice.  And once we determine what the best practice is, we'll roll it out to the other utilities.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So is there a potential then for additional efficiency savings because of improvements in the best practices around power quality?


MR. PASTORIC:  I think that is a difficult one to indicate.  Usually, power quality takes more capital because you are providing more monitoring.  So I'm not sure if there’s going to be synergies, per se.


I think there would be a greater satisfaction with those customers, but I'm not sure that you can say that there is going to be a dollar savings by implementing more capital and different processes right at this point in time.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  If we can turn now to page 43 of AMPCO's compendium number 1; and Mr. Shepherd already asked a couple of questions on this Interrogatory, B-AMPCO-6, but I just have a couple of follow-up questions. 


So I just wanted to be clear.  There are 94 vacancies that have been identified by the four parties, and I just want to confirm.  Are those 94 vacancies incorporated into the original 1,633 FTEs, or are they additional to?


MS. SCHACHT:  The identified vacancies are part of the 1,633.


MS. GRICE:  And you said some of the vacancies are being used in the 98 position reduction in year 1.


MS. SCHACHT:  Not necessarily.  Some of the vacancies will map to FTE reductions.  FTE reduction will also be occurring over a three to four year period.


MS. GRICE:  So by some, do you mean 25 percent, 50 percent?  I can't get a sense of how many that is.


MS. SCHACHT:  We are just going through an exercise now of mapping these FTEs to the FTE reductions.


I can't really quote at this point what the specific percentage is.


MS. GRICE:  Is it possible that some of those vacancies have been vacant for more than six months?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. SCHACHT:  Some of these vacancies -- knowing that we were heading into a merger, we have purposely held some of these vacancies, which would have exceeded six months.  But we are also then doing work with less staff and in some cases, we are temporarily backfilling some of these vacancies.


MS. GRICE:  Can you give me a sense, a ballpark on how many have been held versus how many have been filled?


MS. SCHACHT:  I think the ballpark is probably about half.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  I just have a general question.  The business case looks at the status quo versus the merged entity, and I wondered if in the status quo scenario, if there were -- are any potential savings included in later years, six to ten years, that might be achieved over time, like if that scenario looked at additional synergies beyond what's already been built into DSPs, et cetera?


MR. WOLFF:  So in building out the status quo scenarios, the assumptions that were used is that the utilities would continue to operate as they do today, and that they would look for any opportunity for productivity enhancements solely on their own.  So that as the utilities move forward through the rate processes, and through their day-to-day operations, that they would look actually implement opportunities for enhanced productivity.


MS. GRICE:  But did actual dollar numbers go into the status quo scenario to account for that?  Like I just want to -- sorry.


MR. WOLFF:  I don't think that there were specific amounts that said due to productivity changes or anything of that nature, that there were actually dollars taken out of that.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  If we can just look at AMPCO compendium number 2, page 5, please?  And this is an interrogatory from the PowerStream rate case, EB-2015-0003.


You had a discussion with Mr. Shepherd this morning about your cable injection program, and I believe your cable injection cost is less than 10 percent of the cost of replacement.


And the witness explained that that necessarily -- that program can’t necessarily be rolled out to the other LDCs.


There is another program that I wanted to talk about, which is the pole refurbishment program, where it says in the response to this interrogatory that the potential cost savings for 30 poles is estimated to be $285,000 per year.  Is this program something that's transferable to all of the other utilities?


MS. LERETTE:  This is something that we will look at when we merge our asset management program.  But I will say that I know that PowerStream is the only one currently doing this and the pole reinforcement is -- I think they're still in the pilot program. 


But this is for a very limited use, so it's really around poles that are low risk with ground rot just at the ground level.  We wouldn't be doing this to 55-foot multi-circuit poles.  These are very limited use for low risk applications.


So PowerStream looks at 30 out of about the 400 poles that is they change every year.  So it's a limited scope, but it's certainly something that we can look at for Mergeco.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, so there is the potential for additional savings because of this type of work.  Okay, those are my questions.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.  Ms. Girvan?

Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Panel, if you could first turn to -- it's an interrogatory response, it is SEC number 10, please. I think Ms. DeJulio is going to pull it up.

So I just wanted to confirm this, that you haven't built, in terms of your synergies, you haven't built in any savings associated with water billing, in any of your analysis?


(Panel confers)


MR. WOLFF:  So we confirm, again, in accordance with our response that there are no specific water billing synergies assumed within --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But would you agree with me that there might be some potential synergies in that area?


(Panel confers)


MR. WOLFF:  At this point we can't identify any specific savings relating to the water billing, although we do have two of the utilities coming together, so there is a potential for savings.  We haven't been able to sit down and work through the details on that, though.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, but there is the potential.  Thank you.


MR. WOLFF:  It's a small potential.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Girvan, can I just understand that?  When you say synergies, synergies for who?


MS. GIRVAN:  Just savings, in terms of the fact that several of these utilities do water billing, and in the context of that would they be able to achieve savings by consolidating that particular activity.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So no -- the actual water -- the people paying the bill for the water billing.


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, they do it on behalf of some of the municipalities --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Right.  So --


MS. GIRVAN:  -- I understand.


MR. QUESNELLE:  -- the synergy there -- so it would be -- I'm just trying to understand your question as to whether or not you think that would flow through to the Mergeco or does that just reduce the revenue offset for Mergeco.


MS. GIRVAN:  Either way.  I'm not sure if they've looked at it.


MR. QUESNELLE:  What's the direction on that?  When you say there are synergies for water billing, what does that do for you?


MR. MacDONALD:  So currently, PowerStream does water billing on behalf of the cities of Vaughan and Markham, and in -- Horizon does a similar process, so as Mr. Wolff said, perhaps when you marry those together there is some savings.  It would be hard to think what those might be right now, but there is potential for savings.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm just trying to understand, and what's that do for the electricity ratepayer, or eventually, or what does it do for Mergeco in the meantime?  I'm just trying to understand.  Like, we're looking at the existing rates carrying through for ten years, and I'm trying to understand directionally what a savings in water billing would be on your revenue requirement.


MR. MacDONALD:  So it's possible, and Mr. Chair, probably many examples, but if you -- in this -- if you have lower costs or higher revenue offsets, those would accrete to customers on the rebasing after ten years.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. MacDONALD:  And just --


MS. GIRVAN:  I was looking for either cost savings or increased revenue.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Right, okay.


MS. GIRVAN:  If there is a potential for that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Right.


MS. GIRVAN:  That was really my question.  I think I got --


MR. WOLFF:  It would be very immaterial.  Again, we haven't been able to even get our hands around the cost associated with setting that up in a combined system, and there may be even negative synergies, dys-synergies.  We're --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But there could be some savings.


MR. WOLFF:  And that could go either way.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I was just trying to get my head wrapped around the direction that we were headed to, okay?


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  My next question is a general question, really.  And as a consolidated entity do you believe that you will have a greater ability to address storm damage?


MR. PASTORIC:  Absolutely.  I must say there were two outages, two major outages, in 2013.  One, if you recall, the ice storm that happened in December.  As I alluded to in a previous example, we could have provided more resources to the heavier damaged areas.


Utilities try as much as possible to share resources.  However, if it is not asked, and we are busy with our own things, cleaning up trees, rather than dealing with the most impacted areas, in this case I would say sharing those resources would absolutely help.


There was another outage dealing with the rain storms that occurred that affected two Hydro One transformer stations, and in that case I would say about 60 to 80 percent of Mississauga was blank -- dark black.


There's not a lot of change, but what could have happened is, we could have had reinforcement from other control rooms that weren't affected in the area, so that would have helped, so --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, have you built any of this into your assumptions about synergy with respect to --


MR. PASTORIC:  Yes, the control rooms are definitely part of it.  When we move to -- Hamilton has one of the control rooms.  We're consolidated there or in Vaughan.  Both scenarios have been factored in --


MS. GIRVAN:  But I'm thinking more availability of trucks, ability of resources in the field.


MR. PASTORIC:  Not knowing the probability of storms and when that will occur, it is difficult to put a probability on how many truck roles we would eliminate from the probability of a storm occurring.  2013 was a rare year.  This year is a rare summer.


It would be very difficult to forecast, and I would say major event days, which these are, aren't part of the normal planning process.  They just occur, and we try to address it at the time.


MS. LERETTE:  Can I just add, I don't think there is really synergy savings associated with that.  It is really about increased response time and having more people on the street to restore power.


We have had lots of experience since 2005 since we merged in St. Catharines where we have exchanged resources back and forth depending on which city gets hit the hardest, and it is really about just having more resources to restore the power faster, but I'm not sure that there's actual synergy savings, other than you may not call third-party people inasmuch to help, so that --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, that's what I was thinking.


MS. LERETTE:  Yeah.  But in really massive storms, you know, sometimes you have to also call third-party people in too.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.


And if you can turn to -- it's page 7 of the -- the handbook to electricity distributor and transmitter consolidations, please.  So if you just go to the bottom paragraph.  And I understand, I heard you, Mr. Pastoric, that you've said you are hoping to increase reliability, but you are not making any commitments to improve reliability, so you are maintaining reliability; is that correct?


MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  So I just wondered how that's consistent with what's set out here in the Board's handbook, is that the utilities are expected to deliver continuous improvement for both reliability and service quality performance.


MR. PASTORIC:  What we're striving to is of course maintain and improve, but to guarantee it, it's impossible to guarantee.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.


MS. LERETTE:  So where we have more control on continuous improvement -- is my mic on?  So where we have more control is really around planned outages, where we, you know, where maybe I should go with where we don't have control.  Where we have weather issues or third-party people knocking poles down, we don't really have control over that, but where we have control over are renewal programs and the way we organize our crews to respond to outages.  I think that's where we're going to really concentrate on the continuous improvement efforts --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.


MS. LERETTE:  -- because it is in our control.


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  I had some questions about this idea that you said you're looking at your capital plans, you are going to be looking at prioritization, you are going to be coming together with respect to a consolidated DSP, and I think you've said that earlier.


So in terms of that process, how will you be able to distinguish whether you need money for an ICM?


MS. LERETTE:  I forget what the question was, sorry, but we will be tracking -- of the four different rate zones we will be tracking the DSPs or the long-term capital plans and the capital spendings (sic) separately in each rate zone going forward, so we should be able to identify in which rate zone we see a need for additional capital.


MS. GIRVAN:  But would you agree that in terms of bringing these budgets together that, you know, it might change your forecast of what you think you might need with respect to an ICM?


MR. WOLFF:  The current DSPs were based upon a projected need, and unless we see a significant change in that projected need I would expect that in each rate zone we will continue on those distribution system investments as we've defined them today.


So I'm not sure if we are going to start seeing a change in that need to the extent that we'd have to start allocating amongst the individual rate zones --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, I guess I'm just looking at the possibility that this sort of 143 million that you've projected that you are going to need through an ICM, that might change as you consolidate the way you look at your asset planning.


MR. WOLFF:  I would suggest that that's a low probability.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  If you could please turn to AMPCO 6, and this is the schedule that looked at the FTE reductions that Ms. Grice was referring to earlier.


MS. LERETTE:  We have it.


MS. GIRVAN:  I don't have it yet.  I'm just curious 

-- first of all, I'd like to understand in this schedule what's year 1.


MR. WOLFF:  I think that's referenced by panel 1.  Year 1 is presumed now to be 2017, due to the fact that originally 2016 was supposed to be year 1 in the original model.  So we're essentially shifting one year.


MS. GIRVAN:  So your projections are in 2017 that you are going to move to 1,533 employees.


MR. WOLFF:  With the assumption that we merge and acquire by January 1st, 2017.


MS. GIRVAN:  And can you just describe – and I’m sure it’s in here somewhere, but I just need sort of an update on this.  How did you go about arriving at these numbers?


MS. SCHACHT:  As we have indicated in previous responses, we went out to subject matter experts and individuals in all four organizations that fed up into --ultimately into recommendations on FTE reductions based on operating requirements for the new organization.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you didn't have anybody independently look at these numbers?


MS. SCHACHT:  No, we did not.


MS. GIRVAN:  Would you think that there might be, in some cases, a sort of bias in terms of individuals wanting to keep their staff, keep their employees?


MS. SCHACHT:  I would say no, I don't think there was.  We went -- in fact we reviewed this on more than one occasion and we feel that the individuals that are in these departments are those people with the best knowledge to be able to provide the insights into the head count that we need to run the business and to maintain operations, to maintain customer service and to maintain our high-levels of safety.


So this was not a one-time review.  We reviewed this on a number of occasions.


MS. GIRVAN:  So, did, for example, all of the HR departments from the four entities get together and decide how many employees they required?


MS. SCHACHT:  Yes, that's in fact what happened.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  Now would you agree that going forward, that will be an evolving process in the sense that you might have gotten this wrong, you might need more people, you might need less people in certain departments?  Can you agree that that will be happening?


MS. SCHACHT:  I would agree, yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  And so you could, going sort of down the road, find further staff reductions?


MS. SCHACHT:  I think we could find further -- we would have opportunity for further staff reductions.  We might find that we have cut too deeply in certain areas, so I think it could go either way.


MS. GIRVAN:  Would you also agree that you may also find a change in the mix so between management, non-union, union, those categories?


MS. SCHACHT:  I think the mix of management -- I think the mix of employees has been fairly stable over the years.  I mean, I think we could see small changes here and there, but I'm not sure I would see -- expect to see anything material.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, and I just want to confirm.  I think Mr. Shepherd took you through this, but I wasn't sure if you answered this entirely. 


With respect to the number of executives, the 27 that the transition team came up with, I just wanted to confirm that you didn't benchmark this at all.


MS. SCHACHT:  So, if I could clarify on what we're positioning as executive management in these tables, this is really characterized as our senior leadership team.


When some organizations -- and again, it's naming convention.  Some, organizations will call their executive team their C suite.


If you go by that convention, then we essentially have four executives in Mergeco.


What this represents is our senior leadership team and these are the senior leaders of the organization.  And in that sense, that is what the transitional committee did approve.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Who were the four -- you have four executives?


MS. SCHACHT:  The four who we would consider C suite executives are the CEO, the two presidents, and the CFO.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  So you didn't benchmark.  I just wanted to confirm that.


MS. SCHACHT:  No, we did not benchmark.


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Now, do the four utilities have different policies with respect to contracting out?


MS. SCHACHT:  The contracting out provisions in the four utilities are in accordance with collective agreement provisions.  So while all the utilities do contract out, there will be some differences in collective agreement provisions.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And then through your -- what do you call the transitional -- I'm trying to think of -- transformation committee.


MS. SCHACHT:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Will you be looking at best practices in this area?  Is this one of the things you will be considering?


MS. LERETTE:  So there are two issues here.  There’s the limitations around contracting out through the collective agreements, and then there is the process to manage contractors once they're on site.  So we will look at that through a best practice. 


We have different processes for the process of managing contractors, from approval of a contractor, to who manages a contractor on site and who approves extras, for example.  So we are looking at some best practices around that for adopting for LDC Co.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, and would you agree that this might be an area where you could find further efficiencies?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes, and I believe we have identified some synergies around contractor savings in our business plan.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  Now, will you have to replace residential meters in the next ten years?  It’s something I'm not clear on.


MR. PASTORIC:  I believe all four utilities have gone through to put smart meters into all the residential.  I think each of them have indicated that they are substantially complete.


When you say re-do meters, there is a life cycle toll meters.  I couldn't give you a quantity, but there might be a few that we have to do.  But we've just installed a lot of meters in a lot of homes, so I wouldn't say that it's a material thing that we are expecting to do.


MS. GIRVAN:  But some of these meters are going to be coming to end of life in a very --


MR. PASTORIC:  Just like normal equipment, we will be replacing meters as of end of life, yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Because it is my understanding that smart meters don't have the same life cycle as a traditional meter, right?


MR. PASTORIC:  I can't comment on that from the point of view that some of the old meters do last 40, 50 years.  So from that point of view, I would say that currently the smart meters are in the 15 to 20 range, so yes, they are less durable.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you have considered the fact that you are going to have to replace meters over the term?


MR. PASTORIC:  Eventually, yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Have you considered if there’s any benefits in terms being a consolidated entity, in terms of cost savings with respect to meters?


MR. PASTORIC:  I believe our supply chain people have indicated that -- I believe it was AMPCO 4, where we stated indicating that there would be some discounts from a volume basis, so yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  With respect to residential meters, have you --


MR. PASTORIC:  It’s of everything, everything from the transformers on the poles to the green pad mounts to the meters.


MS. GIRVAN:  And has that been included in the ...


MR. PASTORIC:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  Okay, I may have missed it, but can you explain to me what savings you've assumed regarding fleet?


I don't see it in the chart with respect to capital savings, and that's why I’ve asked the question. 


MS. LERETTE:  The supply chain group did identify some small synergy savings, and I believe – we’re looking for the number, but I think it is 400,000 a year just on some fleet rationalization, and that is really around very specialized equipment that we can move throughout the four territories.


MS. GIRVAN:  In terms of looking at savings with respect to fleet, did you look at utilization rates for each vehicle? 


MS. LERETTE:  They started looking at that, but I think that's a longer term job to look at utilization rates.


MS. GARVIN:  So that might be an area where you could obtain further savings.


MS. LERETTE:  It might be, but considering that the number of employees isn't really going to change in the operations, there may not be an opportunity for huge changes there.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.


And just remind me, when will you be reporting as a consolidated entity for the Triple-R filings?


MR. MacDONALD:  Ms. Girvan, as addressed by Panel 1, we need to have separate accounting, at least for the life of the -- of Horizon's custom IR rate plan.


MS. GIRVAN:  I understand that.  They are separate accounting, but there is also separate reporting, and I just wondered when you -- if you thought about when you would be filing as a consolidated entity the Triple-R filings?


MR. MacDONALD:  We don't have an exact year when that would change or if it would change at all.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Girvan, can I just piggy-back on that?


Earlier in the discussion around the SAIDI and CAIFI (sic), you mentioned that you were going to keep those separate for the full ten years.


MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So -- and how does that -- is that distinguishable from a reporting point of view a lot of other things we ask for in Triple-R.  Like, if you were planning on having your rate areas separate for reliability, is that -- is there anything magic to it versus other --


MR. MacDONALD:  Yeah, there -- just to give you an example, Mr. Chair, keeping reliability separate for rate zones would be helpful to the leaders of those areas for managing those assets in those areas.  They want to know how they're doing, but if you think of, we are going to be migrating to one customer information system over a course of two to three years, so that system, you might look at your call performance overall through that system.


Can you carve it out into the four rate zones?  I mean, those are questions that need to be answered.  There are differences, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Thank you.


MS. GIRVAN:  But you are going to be maintaining separate -- separate numbers for the four entities, but you are also going to be consolidating the numbers as well; right?


MR. PASTORIC:  In the case of -- if the OEB decides -- the Board decides to ask us for one number for reliability, we will provide one number for reliability, and we'll do it on a weighted basis.


However, we want to ensure that we can provide our customers with the information on the previous zones to show the comparables year over year.


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, I wasn't simply talking about reliability.  I'm thinking of all the other requirements under the Triple-R.  So there's -- there's all sorts of schedules and things that you have to file on an annual basis.


MR. MacDONALD:  I think it's -- Ms. Girvan, it is fair to say we haven't -- we don't have that all figured out yet, how that's going to work exactly.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.


Now, I'm trying to get a better understanding of this transformation committee now that I have the name right.  And is part of the role of this committee charged with identifying further efficiencies?


MR. PASTORIC:  So I'm going to jump in just to get a clarification.  There is a transitional committee --


MS. GIRVAN:  This is the --


MR. PASTORIC:  -- which acts as a pseudo board.  Within the company there is a department or a division which is called the transitional, I'll call it division.  Are you talking about that one?


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, I am.


MR. PASTORIC:  Okay.  And your question on that one is?


MS. GIRVAN:  The question was, is this committee charged with finding -- will be charged as one of its responsibilities with finding further efficiencies as you move forward with the merger?


MR. PASTORIC:  The transformational division -- let's leave it at -- versus committee -- will have a mandate to look at performance improvements, but I think it will be on all management staff to look at improvements across the board.  That group is just a, I'll call it a funnel or a focus point for the task, but everyone will be involved with finding greater efficiencies.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Do you have a terms of reference for that committee?


MS. SCHACHT:  There -- it's -- no, it would be premature to have that, but certainly given the complexity of the integration of four organizations, this group is going to be, you know, focusing at least for the shorter-term on the integration and achieving the synergy savings and managing the significant corporate projects, IT projects, that we have going for the next few years.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, do you have staff that are currently charged with looking at opportunities for mergers and acquisitions?


MS. SCHACHT:  There are, I would say, generally speaking, these are mixed roles.  There are people in each utility that would be involved in business development activities which would be looking at potential mergers and acquisitions, but these individuals would also have other responsibilities.


MS. GIRVAN:  So their salaries are currently funded through rates?


MS. SCHACHT:  I would say there's -- there -- for one or a couple of individuals there may be some small portion of their salaries that would not be in rate base, but again, individuals who are involved in this would have significant responsibilities across the LDC, and it would likely be a very small portion --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.


Okay.  And I know we are getting job descriptions with respect to Mr. Bentz, Mr. Costanzi (sic), and Mr. Gregg, and I'd just quickly like a better understanding, because we're not going to be able to ask about that.


What's the prime responsibility of the innovation, growth, and corporate services?  And I specifically am looking at innovation.


MS. SCHACHT:  I would ask if we could put the press release back up on the screen.  That might assist in clarifying.


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, I think it just lists the role.  So if you could scroll down.  It just lists his qualifications, I believe.


Yes, this isn't the right one.


MS. SCHACHT:  So in terms of specifically the areas that relate to innovation, there would be the CDM group, so there would certainly -- you know, there would be leadership on how to continue to evolve that function and to meet requirements around -- there's the business transformation group, which again is around technology -- so some of their IT projects to process improvements, and it would be related to innovation.  There's also Smart Grid that would fall under this role as well.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Could some of this involve unregulated business ventures?


MS. SCHACHT:  Yeah, some would involve unregulated -- non-regulated.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, and this facility, the PowerStream -- current PowerStream offices is going to be housing this group of people; is that correct?


MS. SCHACHT:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  But this will be funded through rates.


MR. MacDONALD:  Just to be clear, Ms. Girvan, the unregulated business won't be funded through rates.


MS. GIRVAN:  The building that they're housed in will be.


MR. MacDONALD:  It will be, but they'll pay for the use of their space through an SLA.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, but that money will go to the shareholders until rebasing?


MR. MacDONALD:  It will not accrue to customers until rebasing; that's correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. LONG:  I'd just like to ask you a further question.  Ms. Girvan asked you again about some specifics with respect to the executive, and I think you used the term senior leaders, and I think I saw an interrogatory response that said senior management.


So are those the same things?  If you are a senior leader, you are a senior manager?


MS. SCHACHT:  The challenge --


MS. LONG:  I don't -- I don't -- I don't -- I don't need you to answer that, I guess.  If somewhere in the evidence you have -- do you have a definition in the evidence anywhere of what the roles would be of the 27 people that form your executive team?  Is that listed anywhere?  I'm not -- I'm not asking who they are, but what roles.

MS. SCHACHT:  So in terms of providing the information, we did provide the organization chart with the direct reports into the -- into the top roles, the three top roles, and those are the positions that have actually been approved at this point.


In terms of the senior management, there is not a consistent definition.  That's where we get into some challenges that different organizations reference different groups in different ways.  So when we responded to AMPCO 6, their original table had a senior management category, but there is no clear definition of senior management amongst the four utilities, so we included it as a management function.


MS. LONG:  So the organizational chart was filed in confidence; do I understand that correctly?


MS. SCHACHT:  That's correct.


MS. LONG:  So if I look at the organizational chart, if I look at the layer that is reporting to, I guess, the two presidents and ultimately the CEO, that layer is going to show me the, I guess, 23 positions.


If I take out the two presidents, CFO, and CEO of the Hold Co., I will find 24 positions there and that is what the executive is constituted of?


MS. SCHACHT:  What you will find in that organization chart is a total of, I believe, three -- the three top roles, plus 14 positions.


And there will be some additional positions that we are just going through a process of reviewing, that will likely be at a senior level.  And we were just going through a review of those roles, so that will add to that number.


But those are some of the roles that we have potentially identified, but those roles have not yet been approved.  But we anticipate that there will be some additional roles as that senior level.


MS. LONG:  At a senior executive level?


MS. SCHACHT:  Yes.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  How does the 14 correlate to the 27 that’s on the other chart?


MS. SCHACHT:  The 14 on that chart are positions that report directly to either the CEO or one of the two presidents.  But there will be some additional roles.


So for example, there will be some roles likely reporting into the CFO that will be at that executive level but they -- we have not yet gone through that full process.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Once you are complete with that process, or once that process completed, do you anticipate it will be that number of 27 in that whole upper cloud?  I’m just trying to make a correlation to what we saw earlier.


MS. SCHACHT:  That’s correct, yes.


MS. HELT:  Ms. Long, if it assists, the organizational chart is found at JTCX1.17, and I do have a copy of here if would like to look at it.  It is a confidential document.


MS. LONG:  I'll look at it at the break.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Speaking of which, why don't we take that now and we will return at 3:30 and, Mr. Brett, you will be up at that point.


Thank you very much.

--- Recess taken at 3:11 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:31 p.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Now, Mr. Brett, I see that you are scheduled to complete the day and carry over to tomorrow, so if it doesn't upset your plans, if we stop at 4:30 today and then just finish off with whatever you have left tomorrow, that would suit us best.


MR. BRETT:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, Panel.


I have a compendium, which I believe everybody has.


MS. HELT:  Yes, Mr. Brett, I've provided a copy to the Panel members, and we will mark the compendium of BOMA as K3.4.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.4:  BOMA COMPENDIUM.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:


MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  Panel, I'm going to start with -- ask you to turn up page 12 of the compendium.  And this is a general question just to get started here.  If you look at the Table 5.6 and 5.7, I just wanted to -- you to confirm that the payroll cost savings which are listed here over the ten years as -- in Table 5.7 as 306.9 million is about 90 percent of the total OM&A savings, right?  I mean, roughly?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BRETT:  And then the payroll transition costs are in the first five years, 2016 through -- oh, 2017 through 2021, and they're 37.6 million; right?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes, 2016 to '20.


MR. BRETT:  Yeah, and it's all moved back a year.


MS. LERETTE:  Yep.


MR. BRETT:  So -- now, my first question then -- these will be -- I think this first group of questions will have to do with payroll and positions.


There's 272 FTEs, as I understand it, that are going to be removed, and my first question is:  How many of these -- of this 272 will be by attrition, approximately?


MS. SCHACHT:  In terms of achieving the head-count reductions, as we indicated earlier, we do have some vacancies that will ultimately map to the FTE reductions.


MR. BRETT:  Yes.


MS. SCHACHT:  It's really hard to predict where we will go from strictly an attrition perspective.  I don't really have a fixed number for what will happen over the next three to four years, but we do expect there to be some.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  And the -- and then the balance that are not done by attrition, have I got this right, that they would be discharged, effectively, or voluntarily severed, I guess?


MS. SCHACHT:  We are hoping that the majority of our FTE reductions would occur through voluntary means, and so what that -- I guess that could translate a little bit to attrition, so we do have employees, for example, that are eligible to retire.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MS. SCHACHT:  And so we are hoping that we will achieve some of these head-count reductions through people that will look to retire over the next few years.


MR. BRETT:  So if they're retiring, just so I have this -- I'm not an HR expert, but if they are retiring anyway, is there a package for them, or do they just retire?  I mean, they have the normal retiree benefits, of course, but...


MS. SCHACHT:  I would say it is probably a mix.  There are some people that will retire.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MS. SCHACT:  There may be individuals where there would be some small incentive for them to retire on a voluntary basis.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And then the -- and the 37.6 million, most of that, as I -- of the transition cost, most of that, as I recall, something like 34 million would be for these various packages of one kind or another; is that right?


MS. SCHACHT:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  And so going back to the vacancies for a moment, you were mentioning 90 -- is it 95 vacancies at the moment?


MS. SCHACHT:  I believe the evidence that we submitted was 94 vacancies.


MR. BRETT:  Yeah.  And that's still current, I mean, broadly speaking, still the same number?


MS. SCHACHT:  Yes, it is essentially the same.  There may be one or two additions --


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, the -- now, does that mean that -- your -- the baseline that you have set for calculating your payroll, your savings, your annual savings, which are, as you know, in the order of, say, 36-, 37 million from 2020 on -- and I appreciate it builds up to that over four years -- is your baseline the -- does your baseline include the vacancies or not?  In other words, when you're calculating the savings in payroll costs going forward, what are you -- what amount are you starting from?  Are you starting -- are you assuming that all the current vacancies are filled with people, if I'm getting that -- am I putting that right?  I don't want to...


MS. SCHACHT:  So the 272 FTE reductions which will happen over the course of years, some of those 272 ultimately will -- vacancies will map to those, so that would include vacancies.


MR. BRETT:  And is that the number that you talked about a little earlier, you thought perhaps 40 or 45, something like half of --


MS. SCHACHT:  About half; that's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And the balance then would not map, so the balance would be -- the balance would be included in the -- in the number of packages, essentially.


MS. SCHACHT:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay, I think I have that.


And most -- you mentioned in -- I believe in your study that your -- that the -- in your business plan that 

-- and I think we talked about it already, but most of these you've described as being administrative and back -- most of the 272 you've described as being an administrative and back-office positions or NIT function positions.  There may be some overlap there, but is that right, essentially?


MS. SCHACHT:  Yeah, I would generally agree with that, and when we talk about administrative functions, that actually would include IT as part of that.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And I think you said earlier to one of the questioners that it doesn't -- that there are no front-line staff included in that number?


MS. SCHACHT:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay, and so it's -- all right, that's fine.


Now -- I'm just going to quickly check here, because some of these have been covered off.


Now, as you said earlier, I think, you -- and I think you said this in your plan, your business plan -- that you would -- you would hope to be able to meet your objectives, your payroll reduction objectives, without involuntary layoffs, but I think you're saying that you probably will have some; was that right?


MS. SCHACHT:  Yes, as I said, our hope is that to the extent possible we will be able to achieve our FTE reductions through voluntary means, but in the event that we don't, then we would certainly have to have some involuntary reductions.


MR. BRETT:  Just one other question on this area.  The 37.6 million in transition costs, how many -- roughly how many packages, how many people does that involve, is that premised on?  In other words, how is the -- well, not the 37.  I guess it's the 34 million, the amount of the transition cost that has directly to do with severance costs or packages with employees, that 34 million or -- and change, how many people does that...


I guess the rest my question is how many people does that speak to?  How many people are involved in that 34 million?


MS. SCHACHT:  That number is based on the 272 FTE reductions.


MR. BRETT:  Okay, I'm sorry about that.  I should have caught that.


Now, there is one other -- if you look at number 11 is, at page 11 of the transcript, of the -- what am I talking about?  Page 11 of my compendium.  I have to get used to this compendium technique. Do you have that?


If you look at the third paragraph from the bottom, you're talking there about one time costs and I'll just read the three-line paragraph:

"The total one one-time cost of the IT transition projects are approximately 55 million."

So they're talking about the IT projects here for 22 separate projects.

“This includes one one-time capex of 51 million and one-time opex of 4 million.  One-time capex includes capitalized internal labour of 11.6 million from 2016 to 2018."


Now, the 2016 to 2018, I take it, is the sort of heavy lifting period for the integration of the IT plans, right?


Or maybe -- let me get to my ultimate question.  The 11.4 million of capitalized labour, you are capitalizing it for three years.  This is a bit technical, but are those -- after the three years, will those people reappear in the OM&A chart?


In other words, they're internal staff -- as I read, this, they're internal staff that are being temporarily -- they're being capitalized for the three-year period they are working on the IT integration.  But after that's over, where will those people's salaries show up?  And/or will they be some of -- well.


MR. WOLFF:  With respect to those specific staff members that are working on the IT integration projects, some of them will stay and some of them may not stay.  And the reason is that once you build that knowledge within the operational folks or the operational employees, you want to retain that knowledge.


So it's expected that some of the employees will be retained, and some of the employees may be eligible for retirement and have elected to take some of those packages.  But we want to retain the knowledge.


MR. BRETT:  Now for the ones that stay further to that -- first of all, the ones that go will be included in your transition cost packages?


MS. SCHACHT:  That's correct, yes.


MR. BRETT:  And the ones that stay, will they reappear as OM&A costs for 2019 and following?


MR. WOLFF:  It is expected that as long as they’re part of the staff complement, then yes, they would be in OM&A -- unless, of course, they are working an other capital projects.  There is always that opportunity that may develop as we move through our integration and consolidation.


MR. BRETT:  Have they been factored into the calculation of your OM&A savings, your payroll savings going forward, their return to the OM&A ranks?


MR. WOLFF:  Yes, they have.  So we've got a specific staff complement of full-time staff and they would be included in those numbers in our model.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Could you turn up my compendium pages starting at number 21, please?


Now, these -- just as a quick word of explanation, these pages are the follow-on or the breakdown, if you like, of that – as I understand it of that JTC1.1 dashboard document that we looked at briefly, right, earlier today.


These pages -- and this runs from 21 through 23, these pages break that dashboard number down into the constituent functions, functional categories.


MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.  It takes the surgery and break it down into each of the functions, that’s correct.


MR. BRETT:  I just have a few questions about some of the highlights of these.


You start off with asset planning and design, and you  have a total there of 17 million approximately in O&M savings, right, in that box, that category?


MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  And roughly, can you give me an estimate of roughly how many reductions in personnel that would involve, approximately?


MR. PASTORIC:  We're just searching for the correct chart.  Excuse me for a moment.


MS. HELT:  I believe it may be on page 24 of the compendium.


MR. BRETT:  That’s a different section, I think, but it you write about $3 million a year, it looks like, $3.3 million a year in ...


MS. SCHACHT:  I would refer you to B-Staff-7.  In B-Staff-7, there is a chart by function that gives you payroll dollars by function, which would be a proxy of -- for FTE.  But it gives you dollars by function.


MR. BRETT:  You are saying B-Staff-7, actually for each of these categories -- are the categories the same in B-Staff-7 as here?


MS. SCHACHT:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Are they mapped?


MS. SCHACHT:  Yes, they are.


MR. BRETT:  So I can look there and see effectively the number of FTEs, or get a proxy for the number of FTEs for each of these.


MS. SCHACHT:  It will be by dollars.


MR. BRETT:  By dollars?


MS. SCHACHT:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  The dollars we have here, like we have -- in this chart we have total synergy savings labour across the top as 3.3 million.  So what I was trying to do was go from the dollars to the people.


If you don't have that, then that's -- you don't have it.  I mean ...


MS. SCHACHT:  We have not broken it down in this way for the FTE.  But if you look at table 1 of B-Staff-7, it at least gives you an idea by dollars of, relatively speaking, where the FTEs are being reduced by each of the departments.


MR. BRETT:  So basically I could assume -- if I could assume that the salaries were more or less comparable, I could figure it out from there.


I mean, the salaries probably aren't, but that would give me a rough approximation.


MS. SCHACHT:  That's correct, yes.


MR. BRETT:  I take it that in this particular area, these are technical engineering people we're talking about.  Is that right?


MS. SCHACHT:  Yes, in that area there would be some engineering staff.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Let me just go then to one other piece of this, and this would -- we've been talking around this quite a bit, but I thought this might be helpful.


If you look at total in the middle of the page, in the middle of the box there -- which I'm still in number 1, asset planning, engineering and design -- the total ongoing savings and they are, like I said, about $3.5 million a year and just as an aside, I think your convention is that that goes forward, that the fifth year goes forward to the tenth year at the same number, is that right?


MS. LERETTE:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Unless you note otherwise?


MS. SCHACHT:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So the next line, the total ongoing cost increases, now you have this at about a million dollars a year, 5.3 million for the first five years, could you just tell us what that is essentially?  What are those -- what's that cost about?


MR. PASTORIC:  In my earlier testimony, I indicated that the line that says "less total ongoing cost increases" related directly to four positions that were going to be put into the engineering group --


MR. BRETT:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Okay, so you spoke to that directly.  That's what you were speaking to, the four positions.


MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Thank you.  Let's skip down here, because I just want to hit a couple of the highlights of these.  The -- the next is finance and regulatory, and there is fairly -- a larger amount of dollars here, 26 million over the five years.  These are just five-year totals, so you're running about 5 million on average a year.


Now, can you tell me, rather than try and dwell on the number of FTEs, what type of labour are we talking about there under finance and regulatory?  Are these people that are -- are these financial clerks, are they -- what are they?


MR. WOLFF:  These would be finance staff, and I want to say they're across the finance organization, and I don't want to say they're just clerks or just managers or anything like that.  So it is across the board --


MR. BRETT:  In other words, a range of levels.


MR. WOLFF:  Right, and these are positions that were identified as being duplicate, so we didn't want to have the same people sitting around doing exactly the same thing.  That would be completely wrong.  So these again are redundant positions that have been eliminated for the analysis by that team.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And at the same time you had other savings of -- this one is fairly large -- about a million dollars a year, non-labour savings.  What -- how -- what does that consist of?


MR. WOLFF:  Generally those types of savings would be applicable to items such as banking fees.  That would normally fall into the finance area.  That's probably a fairly significant one.  There's other types of fees that the finance organization would normally take care of, but I think to the largest extent it's --


MR. BRETT:  Is it going to be hardware time or hardware or computer time or something of this sort?


MR. WOLFF:  Generally that would fall in the IT

area --


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. WOLFF:  -- but again, it's fees relating to the provision of services for the finance team.


MR. BRETT:  And you have no ongoing cost increases in this sector, so essentially these are sorting out duplicative roles in the four companies?


MR. WOLFF:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay, if you could just go over to 22.  And now we're into HR, HSE, and OE, and the OE, sorry, stands for what?


MS. SCHACHT:  Organizational -- it is part of the HR department.  It's called organizational effectiveness.


MR. BRETT:  Okay, and so it is HR, health and safety, and OE, and there again we're talking fairly large dollars here -- well, we are in gross terms, at least, but let's just start at the top for a moment.


The -- you've got about 18.8 -- almost $19 million in gross savings before we get down to the deductions, and a lot of that is not in labour but in other, so could you explain that?  What are those numbers there?  About two-and-a-half, $3 million a year there, total synergy savings, other.


(Panel confers)


MS. SCHACT:  So in terms of some of the synergy savings we've identified for HR and health and safety would have to do with things like harmonizing our benefit plans.  We have some duplication in terms of technology and technology platforms, consulting services, those types of things.


MR. BRETT:  Okay, and then there is a new entry here for the first time.  Under total energy savings of 18.8 million you have total avoided costs in labour.  And that's a large number, 11.2 million, about 2.4 million a year on average, say, for the five years.


Now, what is that avoided cost?  That year -- in this -- in this construct you've got synergy savings and then you've got avoided costs.  You don't have avoided costs in each of these boxes, but you have it in some, and in this case it is fairly significant, so my question is:  What does the avoided costs of labour consist of in this case?


MS. SCHACHT:  This was reflecting avoided costs related to future hires that were planned.


MR. BRETT:  Okay, and this is a -- so this is additive, basically.  This is additive to your synergy savings, additive in the sense that it increases your total O&M savings, because what you're saying, if we do this, we do the merger, we're not going to have to hire 11.2 million worth of additional staff.


MS. SCHACHT:  This is actually -- this amount actually is included in our synergy savings.


MR. BRETT:  So it's included in your reductions, in your -- in other words, it's -- the 30 million number there, the total operating savings, is the sum of the avoided costs and the synergy savings; right?  I mean, I just -- I don't want to confuse -- I want to put this carefully.


What I think I heard you say is when you calculated your total labour -- your labour savings, the 300 and -- the total number, you include both avoided costs and synergy costs, synergy savings --


MS. SCHACHT:  Yes, so what we have identified is our total savings are on the OM&A side --


MR. BRETT:  Right.  Right.


MS. SCHACT:  -- would include that.


MR. BRETT:  That's my question.


MS. SCHACHT:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So the avoided costs are in there, and just as a matter of interest, how -- so these -- these are people that, what?  You don't have them now, but if you didn't do the merger you would have to have hired them, essentially, right away; is that the idea?  They are people that you don't have to -- I mean, they're not in the same category as someone that you've laid off or someone you've made a package with.  This is a different concept, is it not?


MS. SCHACHT:  Yes, so if these were -- these were planned hires in the budgets of each of the utility that were planned to be hired and as a result of the merger we would not be hiring.


MR. BRETT:  I see.  Okay, so those numbers would come off previous utility filings, if you like.


MS. SCHACHT:  Yeah, future hires, yes.


MR. BRETT:  Okay, and then -- now, you have as well ongoing costs increases in this area of 2.4 million, about 12 million a year.  So -- sorry, two-and-a-half million dollars, roughly, a year for 12 million.


Now, what do those consist of?  Those are -- you have three things in this particular area.  You have your synergy savings, your total avoided labour costs, and your ongoing cost increases.  And are those ongoing cost increases -- are those labour costs?


MS. SCHACHT:  Yes, that's correct, they are labour costs.


MR. BRETT:  And what would those be, essentially?


MS. SCHACHT:  That reflects a harmonization of wages across all four utilities.


MR. BRETT:  Okay, now, some of this, I think, is probably just the accounting language and the conventions you use, but if you look at the transition cost, which is more or less the next line, you have a very large number of transition costs there, 34 million, almost 35 million.


Where is that coming from?


MS. SCHACHT:  That is the -- that is the transition cost for the packages that's being held in HR.


MR. BRETT:  Oh, I'm sorry, okay, you are putting those in HR.  Yeah.


MS. SCHACHT:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay, I got it.  Okay, the supply chain, which is also on 22, it's fairly significant, $24 million in total operating savings, and I guess my question here is sort of a substantive question of how do you build-up -- roughly, how do you build-up that $24 million?  What does that -- you are the HR person, so I guess this may have to shift over, but what does that consist of?  That's about -- well, what is it? 


It's -- it's a -- I'm sorry, that was -- yes, 24 million, so you've got large savings.  So I guess the question is how are you taking out that 2.4 million a year in synergy savings?  Sorry, it's 5 million a year. 


The first line is 3 million in labour and 2.3 million in others.  So you're taking out about $5 million a year out of the supply chain.  How is that -- what is that, essentially?


MS. SCHACHT:  So the synergy savings for labour are head count reductions, and the other is the rationalization of inventory.


MR. BRETT:  Sorry, the rationalization of --


MS. SCHACHT:  Of inventory.


MR. BRETT:  Of inventory.


MS. LERETTE:  And there are also some savings around renegotiation of the contracts and --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Microphone please.


MS. LERETTE:  You turned me off.


Rationalization of contracts and third-party spending.


MR. BRETT:  This would include procurement-related savings, like larger scale procurement --


MS. LERETTE:  Absolutely.


MR. BRETT:  -- of some items?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  And generally speaking, can you give us an idea, say in percentage terms of what -- I know it would vary from product to product, system to system, but  where you're getting a lot of items.  You're going from -- you are not -- you are sort of increasing the size of your company by two and a half times, approximately.


What do you expect to be able to realize in procurement savings, broadly in percentage terms, because of that?


MS. LERETTE:  I believe the savings were based on about 2 percent on inventory savings and 5 percent on like third-party contracts.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Moving right along, and I think -- I won't go into all of these, but I just want to hit one or two points, the larger ones, because it helps get a sense of what we're talking about in the abstract here.


The billing and call centre; now, the synergy savings on labour here are 20 million.  And that's a large number, and I take that's reducing the call – it builds up and hits the two and a half million per year in 2018.  So that's the reduction of the call centre, the four call centres to two?


MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.  By centralizing into two locations, we do have a reduction in management staff.


MR. BRETT:  So you are getting a large saving out of that --


MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  -- in relative terms.  And the -- just as an aside, although it's not a large number, what are the ongoing cost increases there is in that situation?


MS. LERETTE:  There is some ongoing cost increases on printing and mailing, outsourced field collections and outsourced meter reading.


MR. BRETT:  So these are inflationary.


MS. LERETTE:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And then looking at the IT, this is the big one, or a very large one, now you've got labour and – you’ve go 28 million in savings here, of OM&A savings, synergy savings, not -- about half and half with labour and other. 


So could you just explain the -- the labour savings, I think we’ve talked about.  What is the other synergy savings there of 15 million?


MR. WOLFF:  A significant portion of that would be reduced maintenance and licence fees on software systems.  As we bring them together, there will be less overall software license and maintenance requirements.


MR. BRETT:  So this -- this comes as you transition these various four systems to one system essentially of each type?


MR. WOLFF:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  And is there anything -- I mean, I don't -- we obviously have some practical limits on the amount of information we can ask and deal with here.  But is there anywhere in the evidence that you describe those – describe the build-up of those numbers?


Is that -- I know you talked about the -- I know you talked about how you are rationalizing your various IT Systems.  In fact, we had an IR on that which you kindly Answered.  But do you have a breakdown, for example, among the major categories of expense, or is or is it really -- it's just the global number that you're --


MR. WOLFF:  It is definitely a global number.  And  just for clarity, our combined systems when you look at it, there are literally hundreds of individual systems for the -- that permit the systems to talk to one another because we have to reach out to the MDMR, we have to reach out to the market clearing module.  And there's a tremendous number of systems that are being cleared out and eventually being get rid of. 


So it is a global number that encompasses a tremendous amount of different software packages, and that's why the number gets that large.


MR. BRETT:  In other words, it is isn't four.  It’s greater --


MR. WOLFF:  No, it’s not.  This is not just about –


MR. BRETT:  Looking down for a moment to the one time capital savings, you have about $90 million; that's the second line from the bottom.


That number is derived how?  Is that essentially what -- well, how do you derive that 100 million, that 90 million?  About -- it seems to vary a bit by anywhere from 13 to 21 million dollars a year, per year over the five years.  How do you build that up?


MR. WOLFF:  So with respect – and sorry, just to clarify, you are talking about the $89,375,961?


MR. BRETT:  Yes, I am.


MR. WOLFF:  Okay.  So one of the greatest contributors to that of course is the capital side.  So what’s happening is –


MR. BRETT:  This is capital, right?  This is a one time capital -- this is total capital savings?


MR. WOLFF:  Not the 89 million.


MS. SCHACHT:  Yeah.


MR. WOLFF:  Sorry, my mistake.  So we have 51 million on the -- sorry, the transition costs that -- sorry, I’ll just take one second again.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BRETT:  Yes, what I'm trying to get at is -- at least I think what I'm trying to get at is you have transition costs, but then you have over -- I think over and above that, you have something called "total one time capital savings," and you have these numbers in each of the five years totalling $90 million -- sorry 89.3.


And I'm trying to figure out, I mean, what those are.


MR. WOLFF:  Sorry, just to clarify.  So that $89 million, the majority of those capital savings are made up through the lack of requirement to upgrade and to implement new functionality.


So as we are bringing together our ERP, or enterprise resource planning tool, as well as our billing system, what happens is it is going to be a new system, it is going to be quite robust, and we won't have the necessity to upgrade in the near term.


So that drives many of those capital savings that we're listing here.  And when you upgrade a billing system, where you upgrade an ERP, they are extensive projects and cost tens of millions of dollars.  So when you take that out of four individual utilities, then that's where those synergies are derived from.


MR. BRETT:  Those lives, can you just comment on the life -- the lives of these systems you're putting in?  It seems to me what -- and I'm not an IT person, but it seems to me you're migrating in the systems of the various -- of the four companies to one -- to the system run by one of the companies in each case, almost, either PowerStream or Enersource.


MR. WOLFF:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  And so my question is:  Are these existing systems in the various -- in the four companies that are being migrated, are they obsolete at this point or do they have life -- do they have system life left?


MR. WOLFF:  Absolutely, they do.


MR. BRETT:  They do?


MR. WOLFF:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  So you are leaving them, effectively,

or --


MR. WOLFF:  Oh, I'm sorry, no, actually, the ones that have, we'll call it the most life, those are the ones that we are using as our platform for all the other utilities to migrate to.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  And what life do they have, broadly speaking, the ones that they're migrating to?


MR. MacDONALD:  Mr. Brett, maybe an example might help.  You may recall that PowerStream installed a new customer information system last year.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. MacDONALD:  So it has another 14 years' depreciation, so as Mr. Wolff said, that will be the basis for the other utilities to migrate to, so that's the approach.


MR. BRETT:  So effectively you are picking the newest one, generally --


MR. MacDONALD:  Generally that's correct, yes.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, on -- just a couple of questions on the last pages here.  If you go over to 24, 24 of our compendium, and this is, I think, probably just language, but you've got here under "operations" -- this is called "operations", and you've got total synergy savings of 42 million.


Now, what -- labour, sorry, savings of 42.6 million.  What is that?  Is that -- that's got to span a number of other departments, or what is meant by that?


MS. LERETTE:  That covers operations and control room, and most of the savings are coming out of the consolidation of the control rooms.


MR. BRETT:  So these are control-room savings.


MS. LERETTE:  That would include the control rooms, yes.


MR. BRETT:  These are three shift, I guess, are they?


MS. LERETTE:  Well, the 42 million is a reduction of head count.


MR. BRETT:  That's the reduction, so you are getting $10 million a year from reducing the four control rooms to two; is that right, essentially?  You may have -- I noticed that you started off with -- Mr. Shepherd may have got into this a little bit this morning.  I can't recall all of the aspects, but you show 4.6 million in the first year, and then you run up through to 10 million three years out, but this doesn't happen right away, does it, so is --


MR. PASTORIC:  I believe in previous evidence we did indicate that in the case of the control room, which takes about 18 to 24 months to start to merge, immediately we do have some vacancies that we'll realize in year one, and that's why there is a blip in year one, which is in this chart indicated as two-17, but it's really 20 -- sorry, 2016, and will be 2017 when we start, so there is a blip going up there.


Then we have additional savings from supervisory, as well as other union staff, once we have the control rooms merged, and there is a build effect here, because we are not replacing those individuals, so each year it just builds.


MR. BRETT:  So would you agree with me that it looks like these numbers in the early years, two-16, two-17, they really should be less than they're shown here, perhaps substantially less?


MR. PASTORIC:  Why?  Sorry.


MR. BRETT:  Well, because you are not -- you are not doing -- you're not closing the two control rooms, as I understand it, until 2018.


MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.  We're not closing the control rooms, but there are workforce management techniques, reducing the vacancies that would be there, as well as looking at the night-shift operations that we can start to work on, as well as other techniques, so we will see year-one savings again.


The process that we used for all of these different functions is by bringing our subject-matter experts together from all four companies, and they did a bottom-up approach looking at the activities -- the historical activities, current activities, and the expected activities in each of those control rooms, and they feel that the FTEs and the labour savings on a yearly basis are obtainable, so it's reasonable --


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Just as an aside -- not an aside, but I take it that there is not a -- that you haven't really -- we don't have documentation that kind of -- or you don't have documentation that builds up these numbers from scratch, sort of an -- I mean, you talk about having expert groups come together, and I understand what you're saying.  You have task forces and all of that.  But normally you would expect that those people would come up with a report that would go somewhere in the company.


Have you got a report or anything like that you could file that shows how you get those numbers?  They're pretty big numbers.  That's the only reason I kind of...


MS. LERETTE:  So in the model where you got the dashboards from --


MR. BRETT:  Yes.


MS. LERETTE:  -- there are a list of the details of what positions they are and the timing of the releases --


MR. BRETT:  Do you mean in the model itself?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  I -- you mean not in the dashboard but in the interior of the model?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes, because there will be a page for each of these dashboards that'll show you --


MR. BRETT:  Those would be the hard copy -- in the hard copy that you gave us?


MS. LERETTE:  I don't know what -- is there -- I don't know if we gave it.  It's in the electronic one for sure.


MR. BRETT:  It's not in the sheets that we got.


MR. WOLFF:  I don't believe it was included in there at that detail level.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  All right.  Now, just one last one.  And this -- in the CDM group you have -- I understand -- I understand the CDM system, and I understand that it's -- you don't pay for the folks, but you -- I think you have somewhere here that you have 65 members in that group; is that right?  65 FTEs?


I'll come back to this.  If it's more convenient I can come back to this.


MR. PASTORIC:  If you can indicate where -- if you can indicate where you want to go with that.  There are approximately 65 people, that's correct, in CDM.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. PASTORIC:  That's it.


MR. BRETT:  Okay, I'm going to shift gears a little bit, and I have got time to get a couple more areas in here.


I want to discuss the travel.  I guess my question is this:  Have you analyzed the amount of extra travel time and employee costs that will result from employees having to travel significant distances on GTA roads to get to their new work destinations?


Before you answer, you mentioned this morning, I think, in discussions with Mr. Shepherd, and this is sort of  a follow-up to that, although I had done this a couple of nights ago.  You said there's going to be a lot of people moving around, I think was the way you put it, because if you look at the new structure, which I will later under a different heading, you have -- people will be, you know -- I think that one of the examples you use, in fact, is CDM.  People -- you are going to have the CDM centralized in the PowerStream office.  And so you are going to have, obviously, CDM professionals commuting in there from other places, from Horizon and from wherever else they are in the system.


MS. LERETTE:  Well, if I can just clarify, the CDM management of CDM is centralized in Vaughan, but there will be decentralized CDM people within each of the territories, because they have to deal with the customers directly.


MR. BRETT:  I understand that.  Yeah, fair enough.  I think what you're saying is each of the individual companies is going to continue with their CDM program.  Is that the idea?


(Panel confers)


MR. BRETT:  Or are you going to have a Mergeco CDM plan?


MS. LERETTE:  Yes, the Mergeco obviously will have a merged CDM plan, but there are regional programs that exist now that CDM people will have to continue to manage, so they all can't work out of Vaughan, because they are dealing with customers in St. Catharines and Hamilton and Mississauga, so some of the CDM agents, the people that deal directly with the customers, will be dispersed throughout the regions --


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Let me just generalize this, because I -- how many employees will have to commute to different offices from where they work now due to the merger and the placement of the functions after the merger?  How many people will be on the -- will have to commute that do not now have to -- how many people will be changing their place of work as a result of the merger, approximately?


MS. SCHACHT:  We don't have that information yet, and we really won't have those numbers until we actually go through a full staffing process through the organization, and that will happen in the months to come.


So we have not actually put people in positions yet, and so we don't know what that number is yet.


MR. BRETT:  So you don't really have a -- okay, all right.  So that's not in the -- that's not in the numbers anywhere in terms of the savings or the ongoing OM&A costs or whatever.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Brett, are you referring to company savings or global economic savings?


MR. BRETT:  Actually, I'm referring to economic savings, I think, first of all because there is lost -- I mean, it may come back to the company, but you've got inefficiencies there, extra time spent commuting, extra -- that you don't have now so there is an economic -- presumably potentially an economic loss.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Is that something that you ever intend to analyze and show?


MS. SCHACHT:  I don't know that I'd agree that there are going to be inefficiencies.


I think, you know, we have to -- we have an organization across a geographic region and we have staff that will be in those locations and coming to work as they do every day.  I'm not sure that that would translate into, you know, inefficiencies.


I think we have to go through that process of staffing those roles, and people will continue to come to work every day.


We're also going to take advantage -- I think we had indicated earlier that we would take advantage of things like technologies around remote meetings, and using technology for people to have meetings, online meetings.


And so there's a lot of things that we can do to actually create efficiencies through our work force.  But you know, we just don't know at this point.


MR. BRETT:  Fair enough.  But are you restricted to any degree by your collective agreements.  In other words 

-- well, to give you a simple example, if -- and this -- let's suppose that, you know, the unionized worker clocks his time from the time he leaves home until the time he leaves the office and gets home.


Now, I don't know how the agreement reads, but that would be the company then getting less value for its salary.


MS. SCHACHT:  The collective agreement -- none of the collective agreements contemplate paying people to drive to work or to drive home from work.


MR. BRETT:  And would the company be contemplating offsetting the costs of transit, or gasoline, or ...


MS. SCHACHT:  No, there is no current plan to do that.


MR. BRETT:  You have nothing like that?


MS. SCHACHT:  No.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Do you expect -- have you looked -- do you have any anticipation of what employees you would lose as a result of these moves, who would just decide not to commute and resign?


MS. SCHACHT:  Again, we have not gone through the process of identifying the candidates for staffing the full organization.  But it's probably not out of the realm of possibilities that some people may choose not to take a role, if the location is not to their liking.


MR. BRETT:  Yes, if you look at compendium number -- page 14, toward the bottom of the page:  "There are many risk factors …” These are under “transitional issues" from the business plan.

“There already many risk factors which could impact Mergeco's ability to achieve its CDM targets.  Inability to retain existing contracts, specialized CDM resources, limited pool of resources, 50 percent of positions still contract."


So there is some sensitivity there, I take it, that you could ...


MS. SCHACHT:  I would -- you know, I would say that the risk for CDM really is not related to travel or commuting time.


It is because these roles are funded that these positions are contract positions, and that really is where the risk is.  It's not on a computing or travel time basis.


MR. BRETT:  So the risk is just -- it's just there aren't that many of these people?


MR. PASTORIC:  No.


MS. SCHACHT:  No, it's really that because these are funded roles, these positions are contract; they're not considered full-time employees, and that's where the risk factor is.


MR. BRETT:  The risk is they won't continue with their contracts, is that it?


MS. SCHACHT:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, I just wanted to check -- you went over this this morning to some degree, but I just want to maybe summarize here quickly here a page to make sure I've got it right.


As I understand it from reading your evidence and from listening to the conversation this morning -- and I'll just go through this, and ask you about it, if you agree.


You have six service centres currently at St. Catharines, Mississauga, Brampton, Markham, Barrie and Hamilton, and you plan to continue to use the six.  But you -- I'm sorry, with one exception.  You say that you will merge the Brampton service centre and the Mississauga service centre.


When will that happen?


MR. PASTORIC:  If I can interject, no, we didn't indicate that we would.  What we said is after three to five years, there will be a reduction staffing at both of those locations, and we'll have to do a rationalization study for year 5.  At that time, we will make a decision on do we look at one unit, one service centre, or do we maintain the two.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, you have your three head offices but you also talked about -- this is compendium page 5, but I can short circuit, I think a little bit.


You talk about having four administrative offices.  Now are they the same as the head offices, or are they separate entities?


MR. PASTORIC:  I believe the key word in paragraph -- I think it’s the middle paragraph on administration offices -- is “initially”.  We currently have four corporate offices, the Hydro One Brampton office, the PowerStream office, and so forth, but we will be moving to three administration offices with our plan.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  So just so you got it, the administrative offices are the head offices?


MR. PASTORIC:  Head offices, if you wish to call them.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  This is probably a good time, sir.  You were talking about 4:30.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you Mr. Brett.


Let's talk a little bit more about our expectations for tomorrow.  We have the remainder of your cross, Mr. Brett, and then we'll be hearing from Mr. Stephenson, I believe, and then Board Staff, Ms. Helt. 


That will probably take us through most of the morning, Mr. Cass.  Would you be prepared to provide argument-in-chief, perhaps after the lunch break?


MR. CASS:  Yes -- excuse me, yes, sir, we can do that.  Pardon me.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Let's plan on that and we'll see how the morning goes.  We might take an early lunch if that is what plays out.  So let's resume at 9:30 tomorrow morning.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 4:30 p.m.
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